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£N THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 

No. 18-11013-D 

IN RE: TODD BRITTON-HARR, 

Application for Leave to File a Second or Successive 
Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, 

or Correct Sentence, 28 U.S.C. § 2255(h) 

Before: WILSON, MARTIN and ROSENBAUM, Circuit Judges. 

BY THE COURT: 

Petitioner. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2255(h) and 2244(b)(3)(A), Todd Britton-Harr has tiled an 

application seeking an order authorizing the district court to consider a second or successive 

motion to vacate, set aside, or correct his federal sentence, 28 U.S.C. § 2255. Such authorization 

may be granted only if this Court certifies that the second or successive motion contains a claim 

involving: 

(I) newly discovered evidence that, if proven and viewed in light of the 
evidence as a whole, would be sufficient to establish by clear and convincing 
evidence that no reasonable factfinder would have found the movant guilty of the 
offense; or 

(2) a new rule of constitutional law, made retroactive to cases on collateral 
review by the Supreme Court, that was previously unavailable. 

28 U.S.C. § 2255(h). "The court of appeals may authorize the filing of a second or successive 

application only if it determines that the application makes a prima facie showing that the 
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application satisfies the requirements of this subsection." Id. § 2244(b)(3)(C); see also 

Jordon v. Sec'y, Dep't ofCorrs., 485 F.3d 1351, 1357-58 (I Ith Cir. 2007) (explaining that this 

Court's detennination that an applicant has made aprimafacie showing that the statutory criteria 

have been met is simply a threshold determination). 

In his instant pro se application, Britton-Harr indicates that he wishes to raise one claim 

based on newly discovered evidence. He alleges that the government had presented evidence at 

his criminal trial that he, acting as the real estate agent and power of attorney for his stepmother, 

Karyn J. Britton, made a false statement on Karyn's loan application for a condominium unit. He 

states that he presented a defense at trial that Karyn was solely responsible for the false 

information made to Wells Fargo bank and that all of the documents he had signed were correct. 

He alleges that, when he was released from prison in February 2017, he began investigating his 

case and discovered that during Karyn's trial, her loan application was presented as evidence and 

was allegedly signed by Wells Fargo employee Gary Owens. Owens had not testified at his trial. 

Britton-Harr asserts that he contacted Owens and showed him the application in order to 

obtain an affidavit from Owens. Britton-Harr states that, upon contacting him, Owens stated that 

the signature on the loan application was not his own and bad been forged. Britton-Harr asserts 

that he was unable to contact Owens while in prison and had never communicated with him prior 

to trial, despite the government's assertion otherwise. He argues that Owens's statement that the 

loan application had been forged was newly discovered evidence, because the government had 

relied upon a false document in order to obtain the conviction. He asserts that he is entitled to a 

new trial because the evidence was discovered after trial in October 2017, he exercised due 

2 
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diligence in finding it, the evidence was not cumulative or impeaching, the evidence is material, 

and the evidence would produce a different outcome at trial. 

Britton-Harr attaches the following documents to his application: (I) teKt messages 

between himself and Owens, which indicated that Britton-Harr had asked Owens to sign an 

affidavit and Owens responded that "[t]he application does not have my signature on it. I have to 

ask my attorney"; (2) two loan applications, one that appears to have been signed by Owens but not 

by the borrower and is dated July 25, 2006, and one that indicates that Britton-Harr signed it on 

behalf of Karyn as the borrower and is dated August 14, 2006, but has Owens's name typed with 

no signature; and (3) a credit report prepared for Wells Fargo. 

Here, Britton-Harr has not made aprimafacie showing that his claim meets !he statutory 

criteria. See 28 U.S.C. § 2255(h). Britton-Harr has not adequately explained how the forged 

loan application would demonstrate his factual innocence of making a false statement, aside from 

his conciusory statement. See In re Boshears, 110 F.3d !538, 1541-43 (I Ith Cir. 1997) (holding 

that an applicant must explain how the new evidence would demonstrate his factual innocence); 28 

U.S.C. § 2255(h)(I). Initially, it is unclear that Owens actually alleged that his signature was 

forged in his text message exchange with Britton-Harr, as he stated that his signature was not on 

the application, not that his signature was false. It is possible that Britton-H!!rr sent Owens !he 

application without Owens' s signature on it, instead of the one with it. Nonetheless, even if 

Owens was referring to his signature being forged, Britton· Harr does not explain how Owens' s 

alleged forged signature negates the jury's finding that he made a false statement on Karyn's loan 

application, as he does not allege that the entire loan application was forged or that his signature on 

behalf of Karyn was forged. See Boshears, 110 F.3d at 1541-43. Instead, it merely calls into 

3 
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question the integrity of the document without otherwise negating the jury's finding that 

Britton-Harr made a false statement. See id.; 28 U.S.C. § 2255(h}(l). 

Accordingly, because Britton-Harr has failed to make a prima facle showing of the 

existence of either of the grounds set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 2255, his application for leave to file a 

second or successive motion is hereby DENIED. 

4 
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,, I Verizon ~ 8 :45 PM 

New iMessage Cancel 

To: Gary Owens, 

-
Fri, Oct 6, 9:40 AM 
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,, I Verizon ~ 8:47 PM 

New iMessage 

To: Gary Owens 

attest 

The application does not have 
my signature on it. I have to 
ask my attorney. 

Cancel 
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Uniform Residential Loan Application 
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olw be provided (nnd tho opfimprint11 boi:: checknd) when D lhD lncoma or ns511ls of p perwn other 
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Legal Doscrip!lon of Subjo~l Propmly (aUuoh dosorip!lon if no~(n;imry) UNIT A-19U / r 
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~.®' ' '; >: • ':{ t@ :Nt1iMM3if'" .!fil.$·'<lfil'~JlliJI SR!:INJ!SRMA'!flG'KiJS , Jf~ . - ,_ ., :M ' 
Borrowote Name flnoludn Jr. or Sr. 11 epplloublo) 
KARYN' J .aRl'.r ON 

Co-8o;rowef$ Na~ (fnQ!ude Jr. or Sr .. if a.pp11oable) 
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Name 1111d uddross of Company $ Pay~(l11l/Mo!l1hs • 
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Name and 11ddrons of &lnk, St.L, M Cmdl! Unlon 

"~8130162 
Nomti 11nd llddre~11 of Company $ Paymont/MC1nlh11 $ 

t10<" no. 1. MAC!S/FDSB 1/ 35 245.00 
N11m1111nd llddreS& Cll Bank, S&L, or C1adlt Union 

m{l98131420 
Name e.nd oddross of Company $ P4ymen1/Mo11lh11 s 

co. no. 1, CAPITAL 1 BK 19/ 33 2644.00 
N11me ond addmu ol Bank, S&L, Cir Credit UnUm 

:ill:fl5186595 
Name and 11dd1eS$ of Complllly $ Paym!m11Monlhs • Ma.llO. 1, WASH MUTUAL/PROVIDIAN 366/ 29 10441,00 

Name and addro&& of &mk, S&L, or Crodl! Union 

. i =TO BE PAI @ CLOSING 

mfg4sss1 • =NOT INCLU to IN wros 
Nam!l nnd addross Clf Compsnr $ Paymen1/Monlhs • . w. 1, @MORTGAGE I'l' SEE ATTACH.ED 223412.00 

~1~~1~11jlg~)da (Comp11ny namc/numbor $ 

mr.!6440 
Name and addtolili of Company $ PoymamfMClnlh& • 

Lifn !nsurancn nol c11Dh valuo • LASALB NT BK SEE A'l'TACHED 131. 00 
. ...•. .. 

Subtotal Uouid Assets . 
Real oalate C1wnOO (onlor markcl value 
from $Chodule of rnal 11&tale owned) ' 600000.0() 

''"~6130)621019 
Ves1Gd lnlorllll1 In re\\romen1 fund • NPtll(l llnd eddreu of Comp1my S Payment/Mcnlh6 ' Nnt worth o! buslnon(~) owned 

' I 
(a1\ech financial s111!omen!) 

Au1omobll06 own!ld {mak11 end year) • 
;MC . .-.0. . 
~lf~~K{f~~uft;oitfSepPre1o Maintenance ' • Other A~$ol& (lteml~a) s 
~Fk)Rolalod &ponsa (child earn, union dues, ' --· Total Monthlv Pa•-ents . 591. o·o 

Total Assets 11. lo 600000 .0() . :it\™ 1%~· _,~1., 157810 .00 Total Uabllitles b, 44.2190,00 

F1o:l~icM1>e fDrm 05 710~ ~~<'<".) 
f " !nM>ls: 

f'a..l~lol 4 
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Proporty Address {enler S if soil,!, PS If pondtng salo Typo ol -- AlflOl'~t or Man~OQts ''= M~ngogo 

I 
lnl>.!r.1nt&, 

"" M~in\e<>;ince, or R if nm1a! being hold for i11c>ime) y """'" Mark&! V•lu~ & Lll!Os ftc<,\ldln""'™' F\iym~!!ls Toxos&Mit<;, Rent&ll~mo 

13555 PERSIDO KEY tmIT A-
PS TK • 300000 • 223472 ' ' 1575 ' ' 13555 PERSIDO KE'i UNIT A~ 

131 20 
SEE ATTACHED 

300000 196878 1416 

TotOI$ $ 600000 ' 420481 ' • 3011 ' • Ust any additional names under wh!Ch cra<lit has pre11lously OOen received amt Indicate appropriate creditor name(s) and account number(s): 
Al!eioalo NtITTle Creditor N~mo ' Accoun1 Numbor 

-----··--·------·----------------

H~·~i'liiili>Jilii:'l'.11[$%l\i'.ll>~DaA1liS:[OF.d.~A:NS'AC:t.tON.'mt'Wl!=f!&li0f -~-':-~1~Nffi@ID\@3~Ko~%§h~~1~;1fafit{il.11J&t!~~AAtrJON_s:l~'~iil~~<-~l%~~!lt;f!f.'l.f&~8~if..~«<~®1 

u. Pu1ch1n1n rico 
,, 325.000.00 It you answer "YesM to any questions a through i, please llon»w~ """"""•• use contlnuatltm sheet for eKplariatton. 

v~ "' y..,_, ' 
J:., .. }\Hond!.!!O~ l!!l!!fQ~~menh; f£1!11ir_ 

,, 
fu._J,nnd __ , If nr.nu!rorl nanam1al"1 o. Arn lhorc nny outslnnding judomonlG n11oi11Gl you? D [X] D D 

' Rnfln~11~" lln~I. ~ol>!s 1o be unid off1 b. Hovo you boon doc!nrod bnnkrup! within tho past 7 ye;us? D [X] oa 
~timulod 1210~11ld l\D!n§ l 471-:~~ 

,, ~J11iye~~o'i~~ r~~~~ty .f~r:~,l~Jod upon or oivon lltl" o; dom:f In 8 [il 
' Bo f E&HmJllOd oroslna costs 4,119.74 d, Aro you o pnr1y 10 n lnwoui1? [X] 
g, __ J:MJ,.M!BJ'.undi·- "-- '· Havo you dirl!Clly or lnd!ructly boon ob\igu!od Oil Ul\V loun whii;:h r6SuUod ill fo1oclosur11, 

trnnsfer of rnt11 Jn !i11u of for1101osurt1, 111 judomen!? (This would intludo such !oano ns homo 
. h. Oi&oounL(iL~JLOWer will onv\ 3 081,50 mortuago loans, SBA lo11nu, homa lmprovemen! loans, mluc111lom11 lo11n6, m1mufoclurcd 

;, Total Costs 1add items a throur1h hi 333 602.16 (mobile) ht>rne loans, any mor111-11110, flnonciol obllgotlon, bond, or loon guaronlee. fl "VOil: 

' '" i •ll'" flnonci~" ~A1g~ S~1~!e ~~0~bd~.111r ~0~:: a~~ri;:~!~~ P:rdt~! 5ac~1o);j"der. D [i] D D 
i,. l'L-rr ' ''"" , •lri h" S-" '· An; you pres11nl1y deli<lquon1 or In dofoull on nny F&dt1r'ol dt1bl or 

I. Other Crod!1a (explain) 
any other loin, mortgag11, linancl;I obllijB\lon, bond, or !oQn 
2~=~·11? U "Y11s,• {llV11 deloils as doscribet:I In the preceding 0 [X] D 

~ 
,, A" yo' 'bllO''°' I' P'Y ollmm"I. ohl" 0'01'011, °' OOP'"lo ~ 

~ ~ 
malntenenco? 

h. Is eny part of the down paymorct borrowed? 

I. !'!?.'!~~ .". ??:T.o.k.e! .~r. ~~~~~~r. ~~ .~ .n.o.l~J •••••••• _ , , •••• , .... 

J. Are you 11 U.S. cHlton? § k. Are you a pormomm! resldenl alien? 

m. Loan amounl 
I. Do Y.OU Intend to occupy the profi:'y as ~our primary [i] 

{el(cluda R>.11. Ml?. Funding F11a financed} 308 '750,00 
teBli:le:nee? If 'Y8t,' aompl<lte (!UH Ion m b4r w. 

n Dto!I Mli> P'undin" Fee flmm.-.od 
m. Havo you had sn ownolllhlp lnlorool In {I property In tho lost [i] D D D throwen1'8? 

" un1 fad" m Jr n\ 308 150 .oo <'l hll.t 1ypa nl properly did riou own • • prlnclpnl residence PR 
" (PA), Mroonrl home reHl, or nvastrnanl pro~ariy (ti')? 

s ----
p. Cash fromllo Bo11owa1 24932, 16' (2) How did you hold Ii la o lhfl Memo•· solo bY you!'$alf (S). 

tsubhllO! i, k, ! & o ffcm I 
~~~Jly wi h your spouse {SP), or jointly wit 111101h11r person ----

. ' . ; [§diRL . /' p· !WillL ' 
,. ' J;?Mt @. ·:%, "'~ ~r 

~i:<'lWZ,": 
,f, • £:oc:l1 o! tM ur.ilm>.igned w""Hie~lly rq>r-1t; to !.end.., and to IJ:mdtlt'& ~val or POlC!\11111 IY,lDlll•. bro'r.oro, p<o~5, llllomey$. lnwrors, $1>1'/IOOr~. 'S\l~:> l!lld <>~111<1' and "II"'"' aod 

llci<now1NDO$ thllt {1) tho info1maHon ~rmldod In !hi~ a~pliell!lon I~ lnl<I ""d C11rreci ~ ol the dol• $$! 1ollh oppo.ito my i:lqnd.U!o and !hot any !ntenlionlll er nogll;rcol mii.rop111S110\11Ucn o! thl~ 

:~1~~~11~1f:'.1:to~~~~U:~~~~~~~::1V:. t~ ::11:~it:ie;~~1~ ":111:,~=F~,t~y !:i::h:~..7id'o:i~r'::'~ 11~ ~~!:; ~:0c:'; ::.~toer.1~~~(2lh1~01 1:~!.;~~:; 
f>UIW~l to lhlsspplic<tt!Gn {th• "Loon') wl~ be w:ure<I by a morlgO(leQr deo::I o1 lru<I On !ho prop«ly descllbll(t Jn lh!G ~ppllo.olle>n; ($)tho p<OpOlly win oot l>o.U><d fo< ""Y iHog:d °' p«>hibilo:I P"'P'>"' 
oi VS« (4) <Ill al:rlet11<1!1tt mlo;jo in thl' l{>pllcatk>ri b'o trU<H! f« tho purpoa&ol obleireng Q 1C'ik1Mtlii1 mortp11go loan;(&) the prOpllrly Will bo. ow.rpl<d 1!.$ lndica!od ifl 11>1$ o>pi>\ioiilion; (6) lhD Londor, ;t& 
$(01"iCi.'5-, wo=rs or 11$$1gn1 may 101ain the 01lginal Md/or llJ'I f'!foCllOnkl 1ecot<I ol thfl; o.ppl!c;\lon, whether Qr n\11tho1.Q'on ho ;p~<<•ll•d< (7) tM ~ nnd ll~ aaMts, b10'""" J\w1D1&, '°"'I::""', 
wocl!SS.()(.., and =lgni: IN)' conllnuo>Kly <ely on !l>o ll'l!Clmallon tooHrfMd !n 1ho ;>'l)!«:oticn. Md I am obUg~l<d 1o pm""d ordlor wpp/"'1lMl lhe jnfor~ioo p<ovidod ln 1hi~ application II ony CJj tho 
m!llona1 laots tha! I hwo •fl'.llD$Cl\lod J\o<oin "'°''Id dlanllf' ptior lo ciotlng ol tho Looo~ (ll) in !ho.,.,...,1 lho! my pofnwrll~ onlh& 1.£>.>o ~d&!ir.qOOlll, !he l.MdOI, lt&WVkbl<.. w<>:llS&)I' C/' !IW;in~ 
may, I" ad<illioo I~ ar>y othe! rl~ht'...nd rO<ll<ldlts thal i! ""'Y h3ve 1cl01ing 10 i:uet> dO!lnquot1Cy, topon my n!Wle ood DGCWlll lnlorrna!IOO 10 ono e< 11\GtO contumrw <~Mh>ll ogencll>o; (9) cwn01V!lp C/. 
!ho l.oan arid/or '1<1min!.lnrlion ol lho L().ln rcwiml may be t1onsfe1red with wch rrolicon me1 bo toqllitlld by l>w: (10) llflith0< londer "°" k•ai;ronlo., brc.k&ill, in$Vle<$, $<0'Vl<o<' we<:el'60<' or ll>*ilan~ 
11os made eioy hlf>l(>OC(l!a\1on Of w;oc''"''Y· ""'P'"""or irnpliod, 10 me reg>tdi"" t~ plop.tty or 1h&~Mdl0m "' vafl>(I Cl thfl pr~y; and (11) myl<~lu!nnor lhis~ppllca!ioo"" an •.roct100U: record' 
.;ontolning my "dectronk: >igM1u10,· nU-.o'" t0<m,<>ro de!IM<I ln appl'°2bkt fod<rlll Vl<l/0< olato !owo (ox eluding o\ldlo ocild vldoa 1o::ordin~). or my !llCSim~• tron1<11.WOO ol thio1q1p:;~.tlon COO!tiinlng 
"l&eaimllo ol my <lgna!uto, <llO~ l>o ,..ol!foCl!ve, l'tlfOl""'b~i<nd volld"" ~ ~P"f>Ol v .. .ion ol tlll• opp~eatk>1 """'" <klivetod conlolntng my <><lglnal wtlUon Glpnature. 

Aol<llawl<l<lgomtl\I. Es>ch al !hfl un~eroigMll h,.ot>y "'*"owlodQ.,. lhol ony owno1 d tho Loan, !1$ UNI<:""' wcce>Mt1 Md <ISSlgn., m•V ~01tty Ol' r ..... uy any irrlom>~lon con'Ulinll(l In thio ~plbrtfon 
0t Qbl<tm ""¥ iattrm•Uon ordo\o •ol•tlng to th<> L<>ao, tw ony ~~_imrlo bu1il>o$4 pu•PQ£elhrorigh ony ""''""' inchlding o g;iorconomtd In th!~ ~,opl~lon Ot Q oonwmu 1eportlnQ oS"""Y· 

Borrower's Slgnalum Co.Borrcwo!'11 Signaturo o"' 
x x 
s .,, ,\t~»iiitli }i.*"' /~<""~/~~',_ '{~~\?;~ 

Thofolk>Wlng lnloima!k>ll 0< IOl\<leslod b~ IM FOllOlal Government !OI ~rtaln 1YJ>OS ol loH)f <OlOl«I IQ t dwa~lng In <>"l!o< to ITIC<\l!ot th<> J..,dclr'o ~ompl\orwo Wt,11 equol ~todll OppoMUnlty, fi;oll hGU1ing 
Qt1d 1><111>9 mortgogo d1'cl<io.uro l•wo Y<iu oro nol roq~ired to f~rni'1t !M~ lnlormillon, bvl i>ro enoaurog6d to .do oo. Tha low p100JldM thlo! o ltoidflr may M! df<r:flmltlot• ellhor oo \he baa!• of ~hla 

~~c~f2:~~~~'. :,n~~';:J';'oc1t!:f~~"t;\~~~:~~~ ~~rt1s1i1:;f ;~!~":i~n\S~m':tf:'~~~h~~~~~,~ond~~·"'~':J·~~.:::Y~ ch:h;:;:i~~':t~~eg:i:~i~ ~~ ~ J~n: 
wls!i to 1urn!Uo !htlnlom1aHon, pl-~~ tho boX below. ~ei Rl\Jll rl"'ieW tho •b<i'<~ mol.,.l•I to ouu1~!hlrt ~hodi$C;o&u.-l!il! WI.sly AJ!1oqur.ern.,.,!' 10 whl:::h lilt ltndlf i~ gubjoot ond!i< •l'l'lir:Ulo 
i:r.<rto l•w for th<! p.:>rllcu!Jr !YPll c! k>~ f!>plio<l lor) 

BORROWER ( <le not wllll lc lurnl'1t thli ln!<>1m:ttlon. 

Ethnicity: Ii"'"•"""' Lnllno ' Not lil6?•nlocr Lntlno 

Rae~: 

""' 
... ~~Ni.two 0

' M~. LJ At':f.:~1Am"'~" 
Na!Wo Howo;;.n 0< ~ 

I nin...1Pacific1£1•"""' -· Sex: CXJ F6mb!o ~ "" To be Completed by Interviewer lntor1iewe!'s Norno (prirl! or lypo) 

Thie 6pp11~nllon wns ln~on by: GARY OHENS 
D Faco.10-fa~c lnlo1Vlow 1n1arvlawo~s S!gna1uro 

DMall 

~ Tel~phcno lnlor1lowor'i: Ftrcnn Numbqr (Incl. aroa oorlo) 

ln1emel 

~;21 N (05071 

CO-SORROWER D I do nOI wl•h 10 hirnllh !hl,!nfoim.ilon. 

Bhniclty: 
Raetr: 

Sex: 

Omo 

1 1it1~Ml:::0tlo.tl/IO ' Not lil$f>Qnleor t..'tilK> 

LJ ~~~~a1io~an or LJ Asll.ll 

D lli~~r·~~~\~1~01 D Wh~• 
S-J A\';1"..!'AfMlicgn 

LJ-~ LJ Molo 

Nnm11 and Addfo&s cf lnturvlowats Emplo)'m 

WELLS FARGO BANK, 
150 ESSJAY ROAD 
SUITE 201 
WILLIAMSVILL"E 

. 

N.A. 

, NY 14221 

1'1.,.Jd., M"° F<i<m(IS 71f)5 
l'OMlo t.lon Fatm too a 7105 

01332 
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Uso !hie con1in1Ja1lon shoot If 
you neaO more spoca to 
complo\e Ille Ro~donllnl Lonn 
Application. Mark Bfor 
3ormw&r or C for Co·Borrowar. 

Fonner Address History 

Borrower. Agoncy Case Number. 

KARYN J BRITTON 
Co-Borrower: 

0067731224 

§!Q · Street I City State Zip Own/Rent Vears/M onths 
B 
c 

Previous Empfoyment 

~ 
Type of Business 

City/State MQnth!y Income 
PositiOn/Title 

Other Income 
B'C Descrtption Monthly Amount 

B 

"'Subtotal' 

Installment Other 

@ = To Be Paid @Closing 
~ = Not Included In Ratio 

Subject Property Net Cash Flow {Income) 

Descriotlon 

Monthly Payment and 
Months left to Pay 

I 
/. 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Addltlopal Liabilities 

B'C Net Renta1 Loss 

Monthly Amount 

$.00 
$.00 B Subject Property Net Cash. Flow (Loss) 

$.00 

Unpaid 
Balance 

Cilllfornla af p!lcantn: Undot Clllilorn!a Civil Coda 1612.300), crodil oppllculionn fo1 lho ob1elnman\ of monoy, good&, labor, or sorvtco& she fl clearly &p. oolly lllol tho 
oppllc1rnt I wm<od mn~ a9ply !or a aopa1ato account 

IJWc fol!y u11~cro1ond Iha\ II is a Fad(lral (lllma pun!Gnobla by 111111 or lmprlsonmen1, or bo1h, to knnwlngly meka any falso s.la1emonls concerning any or the obowo1 raols 
os. applio11b!11 undor Ille prov!alons of Tille 18, Un Holl Sto1oa Q.itfo, Sac!lon 1001, !rt soq. · 

Bormwo~a Sl11natuia: 

x fc,._, '1 ~ "5 IS , . th,,., 

F1edd'°' M"" Form 65 7/i>S 
~MMForm10037105 

~-21N(lls07J 

CO-Dorrowllf's Slgno1um: Dato 

x 

01333 
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• 
lllP11•fJl45·fJJIO•ODOO 0"1/31/2004 Tlil•1•0J24ll•fS210 01/21/2001 07 11C1JI 

••1• er.die. • rnai:aa1: ltf"99 cnwUt ltaport Aoot• uuon 
Prepand tori ULLll n*IO ~ llA *to•• ADOJUll 

"PP' 1llU'MOal • IWU'lf a 
curr lldclr, nu l "11 IT llUT. 9UllOllTOll, n. 3<&210 

~ OllmlIJUHOll 

AcmNllt Typ6 0>\11\t lalA- ~ta = C'lltd. tlllrt 30 so ta+ 
ltUl latat• 10 $420, HT f2,,91 ., 
Jn.etallMllt 9 $0 so s 
a.vol. vill8 %1 $21, lOl ,,11 ' 12 

Othelt 0 •o •o 
TOtal 1' f<&U. UO $3,602 u 2" 

mounun 
, -thTllelll 20 

'&lJ•. - cSay • u 
adjueted Totd '1 

N9'f 'tredoo(C -> l 

QUllLlC ~ 

an •l"-
UM •IA 

111S'JoaICU. l>ELUIQOlllCUll (count> 
..:C.:-11: 'rypo LHtl>lq 30 CO to+ 

-l .. eato 
WC •/A Inatal.1-t 

r.et. 2YX• • hYolvi.ng 

Otllar 
Oldeot. Trd1 0./H Oil filo• U/H TaUl 

Only llpplioat/Oo•eppUCPt 1nf~t.1.oa included l.n the I~. 

IUUAD ICOlll ~TICll 

In lalP.CX>lf 1 .0 (APP)w TU F&ctor1 00010, OOOJO, 00014, 0002J 

00010 PllOIOkTJOlf or llA.LMCU TO CUDl1' LJllJTS !8 TOO IQlllC Oii !Wilt UVOLVu.:J 

Oil <mmll lllYQLVll'I) M:COUWTS 

00030 TIMI IDICll -T aaca.l' llCCOIJlft OPIJfillGI U '1'00 SllOlt1' 

OOOU LlllQ!ll OF TUI& ACCOl.Wl'S IOlV11 anlf ZSTMLI511ZD 

00023 M*llD OP Ulnt 0A UT!OllAl. UVOLVDltJ MlCOClllft lll'l'R llALMCSI 

XPV f%CIO·U IUPI• 731 Pllctar• 10, OS, 14, O' 
10 ~Cl! OP U!.Alfa TO llJtlll cam>U' tB Pint l&'IOLVDIO Oil llUr UllOLvtHQ 

MXOUlrl1I 

05 '1'00 IWl'Y llCCXlOllr8 If .t'nl IAlNICa 

14 IA1lllDll or TIMS ACCOQITS .IA.VII 111D llSTJ\ll.l:8!1111> 

O' TOO Mitt cmSQKlll PilllUla CCIUIMY ~ 

• M\mlMr of .taqu.iri .. AdYcrnely Affect..s the aeon 

111C '100 c:u .. 10 H W•I• ?O• raccor, 010, 001, 012, DH 
010 fJIOfOEl'IOll or UL\ll'CU TO CIUIDIT LDl1'l'S IS mo lllCRI cs - UVOLllDIO oa 

antlR JllMX.YDIQ A.CC:CllllTI 

tOS 1'00 IWIY Acxomrs wrnl tAWca 
on LDll1nl or Tues uvoi.VlJIG ACCOOln8 1111va UD BaTAaL!Sll.llO 

014 LIDIOT\I or TlMS M:cOOl'1'S KAW - JlllTAaLlllKlrl> 
• JUtobe.r of I.oquiJdee Mvenely 11.fhctod the aeon 

--- Pe.go 1 of 1 -- • 

01405 

· .... 

.· 

., 
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• 

• 

• 
ll:P1l•OJ241·632H·OOOO 07/U/2001 'l'Xlhl•DUU;•CJHO n/2l/200• 0111'1JI 

lel• ~edit • 11 .. t&M tier,. C¥tdit 11-iiart Acct• JJUOt1 
Pnpand tori wa.u r.MGO uint M R~H 1 M10UHI 

••ciunted• an. ri>11, TOC • x 

l\pP• lllUTZOll, ICllltW J 

Curr Mdr1 570• >n11 8'l !IDT", ~. n. >UlO 

•••••• ~y t'flM9 ...... 

Pu])lic a.coal tnfonaUCll\1 

lfo "111Uc -rd Into~t:icm tound 
• • .. •• DD Of' oeaoGATOltY lTIMI ..... • 

Ac~ _,...,..r ISourcul 
Open ll19b Payis.eat la14'ftC4I - 8CatlUI llptd lO 10 'O+ IO. Plq . 

1 . MH0./11S/41A1J075SI (TllC·902J5H7Al 

J OT·t3 lU!I 0 ·0- 11.·1 CVUllllT lO•tl 00 011 Ill> fl 

~t• lO•H 1uuu1u1:u.11uuuu1 
c:tvY I IWIQllO!llS 

2. llS9C/ltl/41145f C~·lall.51146l 
Tw.rw1 UV 

• t O'•f4 5$3!1 •/A \ V/A a-l CUIUUIVS' 11-t7 00 00 00 
.Jin' 

l. MOltTQMJI tT/11)121440 (111'lt·J04PllOD01T,~M,tuc:J 

I 01•01 :122300 1575 2aJ472 M•l CUIJllllT 01·01 00 00 00 

'· 
I 

5 . 

l 

llin r OS•Of 1111 
<:tgy : lllA1. aTAnl MOllTOloGI 
UAL llW.TI -'IGMD 

C011V1111'!10IW. ICltTGMll 

PntT ll·OI UP 

Teno: lCO la 

Aait aMll.D llOll~ OltOO/SlOD6501,7112 (Sl!X• 15UBOOIU, 10, 10C) 

01·05 200000 141' UH11 IC-1 c:allUllT 01·0f 00 DO 00 

Ktar.a 07•01 llllll111U nm cr'l·OI AH 

Ctgy: aa.u. an.n MOllTOAGa Telnal 300 llOll 

PIU!l)l)ll! MAC N::Cr 

aui.ann--. 
WASH ~PllOVX.DJMl/47T2H COX·1~Cl271,Ull, TUCI 

05·04 104110 311 104'1 11-1 c:uumn 0'·01 OD 00 00 
P'.Ol'1' 01·01 APP 

u 

25 

Ri•t• 01•0' 1111111'.ll.111111111111111 
etgy, cason CAJ1D Te .. r UV f.llt r 13000 

a.llln' CAaD 

·-- Page 1 of 10 
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• • 
.. ,r1•0J2tS·IJ210•00DO 07/21/2001 TU>rl•Ol20•f>UO 07/U/2001 07111 :ll 

faat due J.•t 

a.la.a.ca NOP 1ttn... llptd JO 'o •o+ Kil Olq 

Aaoounu llnd.ar J!Wl~t {ooat.1.Aulldl r 

'· c.tn/5'24l.t07 (llrX•HfHOOOto,xn.~J 
I 01•04 U300 Ut l:U. ll·l. CVIUIO'J' O'•O& 00 00 00 U 

ltbtr 0'·0& 1ll1Ul.l1111U1UUU11 Pnl1' 01·01 ~p 

ct.gyr CIQIU% CARD 'l'en1 UV t.erf.1 12300 

C:UIUT CUD 

• 7. ~ 1 INC/52tl1Sll (ZP'J.·150a8014,l,XJ'll,11)C) 

1 02·01 J271 79 2G44 ll-1 CDalUlll!' 0'•01 00 OD OD fS 

lliRr 01· 01 ll.Ulll111Ulll1llU11U nM Of·06 .UP 

Ct9)"• ~ Oll%I 1'9n1 lllV 
Cllll>ft CIUID 

• I. MllCYllrl>llll/•7114,11.1 llllPllt·ll,DC!ZIS?7,~,'%0Cl 
l . 0,•02 411 't 246 ll-l c:ustJtlllT 07•0G 00 00 DO SO 

Nietr 07-DI 111111111111111.11111.11.11 P»f1' 07•01 ,..~ 
CCII)' r CllAJIOll ACc:aart ?'91111 RIV IAll: r 2 00 0 

CllUQll 

• I . w.S11L8 Irr U/121107l01070U (SPlC•lHlllMIJ2l.t,'IOCI 

% 01~6 21000 0 137 M•l CUlllUlln 0'·01 00 DO 00 1 

Iii.et:, Of -o' 1 LM:T a,. oe APP 

Ctar llCllm IQUrn toAll T•1111 10 *-
llOICS llCIC11TY t.ou 

wn or ClllllT 

• 10. LP.tALL9 llATlClllAL • ~/12,5071 (XPft•Jlaal0•200J 
I H•Df 137 20 UT ll·l Cl)n!DI? Ol·OI 00 00 00 

llieb r QI •01 l AllP 

C?l:llY• llOMS oirrr t.JHll "" ca.a>IT. UV ftrwr UV l.al:• 28000 

U.. aacccC/tAl' tAL/6CM40710 (lll'X-t04rPlll0'7,Xl'lt, toe) 

1 09•05 10tS O •O• 
lliet r 07•01 11111111111111 

C•l CIJaalllT 07·0' 00 00 OD 1' 

P'Qfr 05· 06 AJIP 
~gy I LDll M c:am>rr ft:r9t Jl&V 1rlllt I 1100 

r.DIB o.r CQlll"f 

12. 1UD/C9USA/IOJ5l20071-tl (Kl'X,Xl'lf·9CJ17896'2,'IUC) 
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2 

1 PROCEEDINGS 

2 (Court called to order.) 

3 (Defendant and all counsel present; jury not present.) 

4 THE COURT: Good morning. There's several matters 

5 outstanding but only one I think that we need tend to before 

6 jury selection and that's the basis of Defendant's supplemental 

7 trial memorandum complaining about government recordings that 

8 have not been reviewed. 

9 Anything more you want to add to that, Mr. Kypreos? 

10 MR. KYPREOS: Yes, Your Honor, just to briefly reply 

11 to the Government's response. I believe it comes out to about 

12 310 phone calls. I had a typographical in my original saying 

13 based on 400 there would be ten hours. There would actually be 

14 100 hours if it were 400 in cases of 15 minutes of these. 

15 And also to respond to the point they make -- the 

16 local rule, as I read it, is broader, gives us more than what 

17 Rule 16 does. The very first sentence talks of defendants being 

18 entitled to written or oral statements or recorded statements, 

19 period; no qualification whatsoever as in Rule 16, Your Honor. 

20 Rule 16 says if it's made to an agent and recorded at the time. 

21 So the local rule gives us more than what we're 

22 normally entitled to. So the point simply is, is we had not 

23 received those beforehand. If I knew which ones they might use, 

24 then obviously it may only be one call, there may only be two 

25 calls, so it wouldn't be a problem. 
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1 THE COURT: Well, without knowing if your client is 

2 going to testify and what he might testify to, how in the world 

3 are they going to tell you what's impeachable? 

4 MR. KYPREOS: I agree with that, Your Honor, but it 

5 was my understanding from talking with the prosecutor that 

6 perhaps they had identified some calls. I just wanted to raise 

7 the issue now so that perhaps after they hear the testimony they 

8 feel they're going to use the tapes, if we could at least have 

9 some agreement that we have the opportunity to know which tapes 

10 they may use in cross so that I could examine it to see if 

11 there's something else we may need to put in in addition to what 

12 they're going to use. 

13 We're really not -- don't want to continue this case. 

14 And I just wanted to let you know there is a problem there. And 

15 I'm just concerned that after he testifies -- they may only have 

16 one tape. Like you say, I don't know. They may end up having 

17 20 and that may force some type of a break to give us the 

18 opportunity to review them. 

19 When I last talked to Mr. Goldberg, my sense was he 

20 didn't feel this was going to be a major problem, and I kind of 

21 see it that way, too. 

22 THE COURT: Well, tell me this, though: Why haven't 

23 you had the opportunity of reviewing them if you wanted to? 

24 

25 from the 

MR. KYPREOS: Well, Judge, I just received the copies 
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1 THE COURT: But you were offered the copies early 

2 December. 

3 MR. KYPREOS: He had made -- had made note of them. 

4 And basically it was my understanding, because they had given us 

5 copies of the others, that apparently -- I knew they were 

6 looking at them. It just didn't seem like there was going to be 

7 anything relevant to them. And I didn't realize that they may 

8 actually want to use parts of it even for impeachment until we 

9 had our conversation a few days ago. 

10 I understand your point. I could have gotten copies. 

11 But with the thousands of documents that I had in this case and 

12 with that seeming to be unlikely since they hadn't even provided 

13 us with copies, I just didn't see any weight to them at the 

14 time, Your Honor. 

15 THE COURT: Mr. Goldberg, anything you wish to offer? 

16 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, only for clarification 

17 purposes for the record. The local rules, when it regards 

18 statements of the defendant, it directly references the Federal 

19 Rules of Criminal Procedure. They are meant to be read in 

20 tandem. That is the Government's interpretation of the rules. 

21 Regardless, I don't think there is going to be an 

22 issue. The Defendant's recorded jail calls are terribly 

23 self-serving, they're replete with foul language and 

24 inflammatory, and the Government will probably not use any of 

25 them. Depending on what comes out during the Defendant's case, 
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1 if there is a chance that we will use them, we will certainly 

2 notify the Defense as to which calls in advance we may use, but 

3 at this juncture I don't think it's going to be an issue. 

4 THE COURT: All right. Well, do just exchange 

5 information as early and as soon as anything can be anticipated. 

6 And they're preparing the jury right at this moment so 

7 it shouldn't be but just a few moments. 

8 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, the Government would make a 

9 motion to sequester and invoke the rule. The investigators are 

10 going to be present, but other than that I don't know who else 

11 is in the courtroom. We would move to sequester any and all 

12 witnesses. 

13 THE COURT: Counsel are advised to advise their 

14 witnesses of the requirement. 

15 MR. KYPREOS: Yes, sir, and we join. And we agree to 

16 a second investigator to be present. It's our understanding 

17 that she'll just basically be testifying as to documents being 

18 placed in evidence, and the Government tells us it will help 

19 them facilitate handling of the documents. 

20 THE COURT: Thank you. Anything else, Mr. Kypreos? 

21 MR. KYPREOS: No, sir. 

22 THE COURT: All right. We'll be in recess until the 

23 jury is seated. 

24 (WHEREUPON, Jury Selection was not authorized to be 

25 transcribed and not included in this transcript.) 
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1 THE COURT: All right. We'd like to turn our 

2 attention then to the Government's first motion in limine. 

3 Anything you want to add to that, Mr. Goldberg? 

4 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, I have spoken with Defense 

5 counsel regarding both motions in limine as well as the 404(b) 

6 notice, and I actually believe they've all been resolved, that 

7 the parties agree as to the exhibits that are admissible and 

8 there is no dispute. 

9 If there happens to be a relevancy objection, then we 

10 can just raise that during the trial, but I don't think the 

11 Defense is objecting to the motions in limine or the 404(b) 

12 notice at this time. That's my understanding. And I believe 

13 we've agreed upon the exhibits and the testimony that will come 

14 forward. 

15 THE COURT: Is that correct, Mr. Kypreos? 

16 MR. KYPREOS: I agree, Your Honor. As I said, the 

17 only thing we'd reserve on the 404(b) notice would be if it goes 

18 into other wrongful acts, which, of course, isn't limited to 

19 just criminal activity, but anything that might come within that 

20 rubric. 

21 But the prosecutor has indicated to me he's basically 

22 bringing certain documents in for certain transactions just 

23 basically to show the transactions that occurred and the 

24 Defendant's familiarity with the real estate process, and I 

25 agree that's relevant so I don't anticipate any controversy. If 
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1 it does, we'll address it then, but I don't anticipate any. 

2 THE COURT: All right. Well, just in keeping, since 

3 there is a motion, I would grant them in the sense that it would 

4 not be introduced or discussed in any way without prior 

5 discussion with the Court. 

6 MR. KYPREOS: Right. If I somehow think it is 

7 relevant, I'll ask to approach the bench and make a proffer at 

8 the appropriate time, but I don't conceive of that being a 

9 possibility. 

10 THE COURT: Anything else? I didn't know we were 

11 going to be so brief. 

12 MR. GOLDBERG: No, Your Honor. The Government would 

13 be less than ten minutes for an opening. 

14 THE COURT: And what would just be your grand estimate 

15 as to schedule, how much time you would be --

16 MR. GOLDBERG: I think based on opening, at or around 

17 one p.m. today that the Government is going to come awfully 

18 close to resting late this afternoon, but maybe one or two 

19 witnesses into the morning. But for sure the Government will 

20 rest before mid-morning break tomorrow, based on our schedule 

21 today. 

22 THE COURT: Let that be your guide, Mr. Kypreos. And 

23 I know it's much more difficult for you at this point, but do 

24 you have any guesstimate as to what your --

25 MR. KYPREOS: Your Honor, I would guesstimate calling 

Donna L. Boland, RPR, FCRR 
United States Court Reporter 

One North Palafox Street * Pensacola, Florida 32502 
850.470.8189 

A-32



8 

1 perhaps in addition -- first the Defendant. Of course, he'll 

2 make that decision at the appropriate time, but I anticipate he 

3 would testify. And I would anticipate calling one, possibly two 

4 other witnesses, depending on what I hear. 

5 I really don't see where more than a half day would be 

6 required for us. I mean, there's a lot of paperwork to go over. 

7 That's been one of my major concerns. I think Mr. Goldberg 

8 probably thinks I've been obsessing over it, getting the 

9 paperwork in and moving that along smoothly, but I don't think 

10 we would take long at all, Your Honor. 

11 THE COURT: All right. Well 

12 MR. KYPREOS: So, I mean, we could possibly, you know, 

13 be getting this to the jury, you know, or at least our closing 

14 arguments or what have you -- I don't know what your preference 

15 would be at the time, but depending on how things go, if you 

16 want us to make our closing arguments and bring them back the 

17 next day to be instructed, of course, we'll have to wait and 

18 see. 

19 THE COURT: We'll wait and see where we get, but 

20 that's a big help. I thank you for those tips. Anything else 

21 we need to discuss before one o'clock? 

22 

23 Honor. 

24 

25 time. 

MR. GOLDBERG: Nothing from the Government, Your 

THE COURT: All right. We'll be in recess until that 
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1 (Recess taken 11:20 a.m. to 1:03 p.m.) 

2 THE COURT: And we have everyone present. Anything we 

3 need to take up? 

4 MR. KYPREOS: No, Your Honor. 

5 THE COURT: If not then, Mr. Maddox. 

6 (Jury in the box.) 

7 THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, we are ready to 

8 proceed now in the case of the United States of America versus 

9 Todd Britton-Harr. And if you would, please stand and be sworn 

10 in as the jury to hear this case. 

11 (Jury duly sworn.) 

12 THE CLERK: Be seated. 

13 THE COURT: All right. And now that you have been 

14 sworn, I want to give you some preliminary instructions to aid 

15 and assist you in your participation in this trial. And it will 

16 be your duty to find from the evidence what the facts of the 

17 case are. You and you alone are the judges of the facts. And 

18 then you will have to apply to those facts the law that I will 

19 explain to you at the conclusion of the presentation of the 

20 evidence, and you must follow that law whether you agree with it 

21 or not, and that is in keeping with the oath that you have just 

22 taken. 

23 And I do want you to understand from the very 

24 beginning that you must not take anything that I may say or do 

25 during this trial as any indication that I have any opinion 
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1 concerning the issues in the case or what your verdict should 

2 be. And therefore, except for my instructions to you on the 

3 law, you must disregard anything that I may say or do in 

4 arriving at your own determination of the facts. 

5 Now, the evidence from which you will find the facts 

6 will consist of testimony of witnesses, of documents and other 

7 exhibits that may be admitted into the record, any facts that 

8 the attorneys might agree to or stipulate to, and any facts that 

9 the Court might direct that you are to find. 

10 Now, certain things are not evidence and must not be 

11 considered by you in any way. First, statements and arguments 

12 and questions by the attorneys are not evidence. Objections to 

13 questions are not evidence. 

14 And I do want you, though, to understand that the 

15 attorneys do have an obligation to their respective clients to 

16 make all objections that they feel are necessary and proper. 

17 And therefore, if a question is being asked that an attorney 

18 feels is contrary to the Rules of Evidence or Rules of 

19 Procedure, they will make an objection to that question. 

20 Now, the Court will either overrule the objection or 

21 sustain the objection. Now, if the objection is sustained, then 

22 the witness will not be permitted to answer the question, and 

23 you must not speculate on what that answer might have been or 

24 draw any inference solely from the question itself. 

25 If the objection is overruled, then the witness will 
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1 be permitted to answer, and you must accept and weigh and judge 

2 that testimony just as you do any other testimony in the case 

3 without regard to the objection or the Court's ruling on that 

4 objection. 

5 Now, if you are instructed that some item of evidence 

6 is being admitted for a limited purpose only, then you must 

7 follow that direction. 

8 Now, testimony that the Court might exclude or direct 

9 that you are to disregard is not evidence and must not be 

10 considered. 

11 Now, anything that you may have seen or heard outside 

12 of the courtroom is not evidence and must be disregarded. You 

13 are here to decide the case solely on the basis of the evidence 

14 presented here in this courtroom during the trial. 

15 Now, there are two kinds of evidence, and that is 

16 direct and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the 

17 direct proof of a fact such as the testimony of an eyewitness, 

18 while circumstantial evidence is proof of facts and 

19 circumstances from which you may infer or conclude that other 

20 facts exist. 

21 And I will give you further instructions on these 

22 points as well as certain others at the conclusion of the 

23 presentation of the evidence, but do keep in mind that you may 

24 consider both direct and circumstantial evidence in deciding 

25 your verdict. 
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1 Now, it will be up to you to decide which witnesses to 

2 believe and which witnesses not to believe or how much of a 

3 witness' testimony to accept or how much to reject. Again, I 

4 will give you some guidelines at the conclusion of the 

5 presentation of the evidence that might assist you in 

6 determining the credibility of the witnesses. 

7 Now, as you know, this is a criminal case, and there 

8 are three basic rules about a criminal case that you must keep 

9 in mind. And I did discuss these with you during your selection 

10 earlier here today. 

11 First, the Defendant is presumed to be innocent until 

12 and if proven guilty. The indictment against the Defendant 

13 brought by the Government is only an accusation and is nothing 

14 more. It is not proof of guilt or anything else. A defendant, 

15 therefore, starts out this trial with a clean slate. 

16 Second, the burden of proof is on the Government until 

17 the very end of the case. The Defendant has no burden to prove 

18 his innocence or to present any evidence or to testify. Since 

19 the Defendant has the absolute right to remain silent, the law 

20 prohibits you, in arriving at your verdict, from considering 

21 that the Defendant may not have testified. 

22 Third, the Government must prove the Defendant's guilt 

23 beyond a reasonable doubt. And I will give you further 

24 instructions on this point later as well, but do bear in mind 

25 that in this respect a criminal case is different from a civil 
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1 case. 

2 And again, I don't remember if any of you have served 

3 on civil cases, but do keep in mind that proof beyond a 

4 reasonable doubt is a greater or higher burden than that used in 

5 the civil case. 

6 Now, in this case the Defendant is charged with two 

7 offenses. Count One charges that between on or about June 1st 

8 of 2006 and on or about October 31st of 2009, that this 

9 Defendant and a co-defendant, Karyn J. Britton, did knowingly 

10 execute and attempt to execute a scheme to defraud a financial 

11 institution and to obtain monies, funds, credits, and assets 

12 owned by and under the custody and control of Wells Fargo Bank, 

13 which is a federally insured financial institution, by means of 

14 materially false, fraudulent pretenses, representations, and 

15 promises. And all, as charged, would be in violation of Title 

16 18, United States Code, Section 1344 and 2. 

17 Now, Count Two charges that on or about August 14th, 

18 2006, that the Defendant, Todd Britton-Harr, and Karyn Britton 

19 did knowingly make a false statement and report for the purpose 

20 of influencing the action of Wells Fargo Bank; that is, that 

21 they knowingly submitted false and fraudulent residential loan 

22 and mortgage documents in relation to a loan application, and 

23 the Defendants then and there well knew that the documents 

24 contained omissions and misrepresentations as to liabilities, 

25 the intent to occupy the property, and the relationship of the 
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1 parties involved, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

2 Section 1014 and 2. 

3 And as I pointed out earlier today, there are two 

4 persons charged in each count of the indictment, but you are 

5 only concerned with the Defendant, Todd F. Britton-Harr, who is 

6 the Defendant in this case on trial. 

7 Now, I will give you detailed instructions on the law 

8 at the conclusion of this case, and those instructions will 

9 govern and control your deliberations and your verdict. 

10 Now, just a few words about your conduct as jurors 

11 during this trial: First, I do instruct you that during the 

12 trial you should not discuss the case among yourselves, 

13 certainly not with anyone else, or allow them to talk to you 

14 about the case or speak of the case in your presence. Until you 

15 retire to the jury room at the end of the case to begin your 

16 deliberations, you are simply not to talk about this case at 

1 7 all. 

18 Second, do not read, listen, or watch any news reports 

19 or anything else that might bear upon this case in any way. 

20 Now, if anyone should attempt to talk to you about the 

21 case or speak of the case in your presence, then advise them 

22 that you're on the jury, ask them to stop. And should they 

23 persist, then leave them at once, report the matter as soon as 

24 you can to the security officer, and he will bring it to my 

25 attention, and it will be dealt with as a matter of contempt of 
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1 court and punished accordingly. 

2 Third, do not do any research or make any 

3 investigation or inquiry on your own about this case. 

4 And finally, do not attempt to form any opinion 

5 concerning the merits of the case until after you have heard all 

6 of the evidence, the arguments of the attorneys, and received 

7 your instructions on the law. 

8 Now, we will begin the trial shortly, and I do want to 

9 explain to you briefly how the trial will be conducted. First, 

10 the attorney for the Government will make an opening statement, 

11 which is simply an outline to help you better understand the 

12 evidence that is presented for your consideration. And 

13 following the Government's opening statement, the Defense 

14 attorney then has the opportunity of making an opening 

15 statement, if he wishes to do so. 

16 Now, I do want you to understand that what the 

17 attorneys say during their opening statements, or for that 

18 matter, at any time during the trial, is not evidence, and it is 

19 not your instructions on the law. But following the opening 

20 statements, the Government will then present its case, call its 

21 witnesses, and counsel for the Defendant will have opportunity 

22 of cross-examining those witnesses. 

23 And following the Government's case, then the 

24 Defendant would have the opportunity of calling any witnesses, 

25 presenting any evidence that he may wish. Again, I do remind 
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1 you the Defendant is not required to call any witnesses or to 

2 produce any evidence or to prove his innocence, but this would 

3 be the opportunity for him to do so if he so chooses. 

4 And after all of the evidence has been presented, then 

5 the attorneys will present their closing arguments in which they 

6 may summarize and interpret the facts that they believe have 

7 been presented. And following the closing arguments, then I 

8 will give you your instructions on the law, and then you would 

9 retire to begin your deliberations. 

10 Now, during this trial it may be necessary for me, on 

11 occasion, to speak with the attorneys out of the hearing of the 

12 jury concerning matters of law and matters of trial procedure 

13 that are not of legal concern to the jury. 

14 Now, it's impossible to predict when such a conference 

15 will be necessary or how long it might take. But if I expect it 

16 to be just a brief discussion, then I will invite the attorneys 

17 to approach the bench here, and we'll continue that discussion 

18 in whispered tones so as not to disturb you. If I expect it to 

19 be a longer discussion, then you will be excused to the comforts 

20 of the jury room while we continue with that discussion here in 

21 open court. 

22 But I do want you to understand that when such a 

23 conference is necessary that it will be conducted in such a 

24 fashion so as to utilize as little of your time as might be 

25 consistent with an orderly and fair disposition of the issue. 
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1 Now, at this time the attorneys for the parties will 

2 have the opportunity of making their opening statements to you 

3 in which they may explain the evidence that they believe will be 

4 presented, the issues that they see in the case, and they may 

5 discuss the law that they believe might be applicable. Again, I 

6 do remind you that what they say is not evidence and it is not 

7 your instructions on the law, but they are clearly intended to 

8 help you better understand the evidence, the issues, and the 

9 applicable law, so I do urge your careful attention. 

10 Now, our rules provide always that each side has equal 

11 opportunity of addressing the jury, but the rules do provide 

12 that the Government's attorney will proceed first, as the 

13 Government does bear the burden of proof. And for that reason 

14 and that purpose, I'd call upon Mr. Goldberg. 

15 GOVERNMENT OPENING STATEMENT 

16 MR. GOLDBERG: May it please this honorable court. 

17 Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, good afternoon. The 

18 case you're about to hear is not a complex case. It's not a 

19 complex case, but it is a serious one. It's not complex because 

20 it really focuses on a pretty simple scheme of fraud and false 

21 statements during real estate transactions utilized to make a 

22 profit. It's all about the money. 

23 It's serious, however, because the evidence will show 

24 how the Defendant and others manipulated the mortgage system for 

25 profit. You'll hear a lot of testimony and see a bunch of 
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1 documents back and forth regarding the Defendant and real estate 

2 transactions he was involved with regarding the Purple Parrot 

3 Village condominiums on Perdido Key. 

4 You'll hear how the Defendant and others -- not just 

5 the Defendant but the Defendant and others were making money 

6 while playing fast and loose with the rules. But most 

7 importantly, you'll see how the Defendant structured some 

8 transactions, he structured certain transactions to defraud 

9 Wells Fargo Bank while he and his own stepmother worked to 

10 acquire condominium unit Al9U one condominium unit, Al9U. 

11 Really the charges are as simple as that: Wells Fargo 

12 Bank got defrauded over Al9U, and the evidence will show how the 

13 Defendants schemed to do it along with others. It is not a 

14 complex case, but it's serious and a lot of money was exchanging 

15 hands. All I ask is that you pay attention to all the evidence 

16 and apply the same common sense you do to go about your everyday 

17 lives. Thank you. 

18 THE COURT: All right, Mr. Kypreos? 

19 MR. KYPREOS: Good afternoon. My name is Spiro 

20 Kypreos, and I'm representing Mr. Todd Britton-Harr in this 

21 matter. In many ways it is a simple case, simple in the sense 

22 that the issues that you're going to have to resolve are going 

23 to be pretty obvious to you. 

24 What I'd like to do is give you a few benchmarks 

25 because we will be throwing a lot of information at you, and I'd 
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1 like to give you a little bit of a preview of what some of that 

2 evidence will be so you can kind of keep track of it as we go 

3 along. 

4 Now, in Count One, as the judge has indicated to you, 

5 the Defendant is charged with a scheme to defraud, a scheme to 

6 defraud a federally insured bank or financial institution --

7 actually, financial institution. 

8 Now, the co-defendant, Karyn Britton, has already 

9 entered a plea in the case. It is anticipated she will testify. 

10 Of course, each defendant in any criminal case is judged on the 

11 basis of the evidence against them. So the fact that one person 

12 has pled guilty does not prove that the other person is guilty, 

13 and that's why we're here, that's what you're going to have to 

14 resolve. 

15 Now, we're going back about five years in time. The 

16 main unit, the unit that is the key to the charges is what they 

17 call Unit Al9U. You may hear about other units. You may hear 

18 about ASD or you may hear about BlO. Just so you can help -- to 

19 help you follow this, if you hear a unit with U, it means it was 

20 an upstairs condo. If you hear a unit with D in it, it means it 

21 was a downstairs condo. If you hear a unit number without a 

22 letter, it means it was two story. So that will kind of 

23 hopefully help you be able to keep track of this. 

24 The name of the condominium project involved or 

25 building is the Purple Parrot Village and it's in Perdido Key. 
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1 Back in 2006, Mr. Britton-Harr was a Realtor, he was a licensed 

2 Realtor. He also had businesses including, but not limited to, 

3 a construction business. His construction business may have 

4 done some work for repairs as a subcontractor to other 

5 contractors out at that time. His business also may have done 

6 interior work for folks and particularly for folks who were 

7 about to sell or about to buy a condominium unit. 

8 Now, what we anticipate is that you're going to hear 

9 that around June 26 of 2006 three contracts were signed by Ms. 

10 Karyn Britton to buy three units at the Purple Parrot. And you 

11 will hear that Mr. Britton-Harr was the Realtor. It may have 

12 been his stepmother, but he was, in fact, the Realtor. He was 

13 working for Trident Realty. And the realty company would get a 

14 commission for the transactions, and Mr. Britton-Harr would 

15 receive a percentage of that commissions. That's what he did 

16 for a living. 

17 We believe the evidence will show he was very 

18 successful at it, that he had been engaged in numerous real 

19 estate transactions at the Purple Parrot about the time of 2006 

20 and 2007. It's not a crime to make money. This is a free 

21 enterprise system. We all understand that. But as the 

22 prosecutor indicates, you have to play by the rules. 

23 And the question is going to be is whether or not the 

24 Government has proven that the Defendant acted unlawfully in 

25 some manner with respect to the A19U transactions. Now, the 
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1 prosecutor has already made some comments about how he 

2 suggesting the Defendant -- that the evidence is going to show 

3 the Defendant was engaged in all kinds of things out there. But 

4 the key thing is this Al9U unit. And what's the fuss about it? 

5 Why are we hear? 

6 Well, in order to purchase Al9U, Karyn Britton had to 

7 get money, like most of us. She had to go and find somebody who 

8 would finance the transaction, and that's where the issue is 

9 going to be. I anticipate, as you've heard from the Government 

10 already, that they will offer evidence and they will argue that 

11 it was all Mr. Britton-Harr's scheme or motivation here, that he 

12 was the one that they will claim was pushing the transaction. 

13 And the Defense's position is simply is, no, that's not true, 

14 that's not true. 

15 So that's where the point of contention is going to 

16 be. And after you see all of these documents and you hear 

17 everything about what's in these documents or not in them, 

18 that's really what it's going to get down to. Who really is it 

19 that made the loan application with respect to A19U? 

20 I anticipate you're going to see the sales contract 

21 with respect to that transaction or each of those transactions 

22 and what they contain. I anticipate that those documents will 

23 show that with respect to Unit BlO -- that's BlO, two story --

24 that there was a provision in the sales contract itself that Ms. 

25 Britton signed that about $48,400 would be paid out at the 
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1 closing at the settlement for repairs or upgrades that would be 

2 done for Unit BlO. 

3 There was no such repairs or money set aside for C46. 

4 C46 was just simply a sale, no repairs needed, no money going to 

5 anybody to do repairs. And I believe there will be evidence 

6 that with respect to Unit BlO it was $30,000 that would be for 

7 Mr. Britton-Harr for repairs done to that unit. 

8 Then what you'll also hear is with respect, again, the 

9 key unit here, Al9U, that there were no moneys in that 

10 transaction going to Mr. Britton-Harr for repairs, at least at 

11 the closing. There was about $66,500, I believe the figure will 

12 be, that was going to go to a company -- an LLC called Five 

13 O'clock Somewhere. And essentially that was a company that was 

14 owned by Ms. Britton. 

15 So the documents themselves, the contract for sale for 

16 the unit will show that that amount of money was going to go to 

17 Five O'clock Somewhere, which everybody knew from the contract. 

18 Everybody knew when they were going to closing that at least 

19 that amount of money would be going to Five O'clock Somewhere 

20 for repairs or upgrades. 

21 There will also be evidence that the closing documents 

22 in the case indicate that cash was not to go back to the 

23 borrower, and that's where we'll have disagreements and disputes 

24 on that. The Government will probably argue that it's one and 

25 the same. We'll argue, hey, it's an LLC, it's a separate 
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1 entity, the money didn't go back to Ms. Britton personally, it 

2 went back to her LLC. 

3 And we believe you'll see that the appraisal report 

4 with respect to this building anticipated that there would be 

5 upgrades or repairs. 

6 Again, that money was not going or destined to go in 

7 any fashion to Mr. Britton-Harr. It was to go to Ms. Britton's 

8 LLC. 

9 So you will probably hear a lot of testimony about 

10 that these were what they call no document transactions. This 

11 was -- the way -- the evidence, I believe, will show is back in 

12 2006 that property values were skyrocketing out at Perdido. We 

13 can all remember before the fall, before the financial crash, 

14 there were good times. 

15 And back in 2006 and 2007, it was good times, the 

16 evidence will show. And I believe you'll see evidence that a 

17 lot of these units went up incredibly in terms of market values 

18 or appraisal values on the property. 

19 Now, you may hear also, for example, that even before 

20 all of this started, these particular transactions, that Mr. 

21 Britton-Harr wanted to buy a unit called A7U. Okay. And he 

22 went to Ms. Britton for assistance on that because he didn't 

23 have the credit. He asked her to buy it. They signed out on a 

24 buyout agreement, and I believe she quitclaimed the property to 

25 herself and to her husband and to Mr. Britton-Harr and to Mr. 
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1 Britton-Barr's wife on the same date as the closing date that 

2 occurred on A7U. 

3 The whole intent was that Mr. Britton-Harr was going 

4 to buy that particular unit. That was his goal. And we believe 

5 the evidence and testimony will be that, in fact, he was making 

6 the monthly payments on that unit and that he was also making 

7 the condominium fee payments on the unit. 

8 Now, why is this significant? Because eventually, as 

9 we get -- that was done around January 25th, 2006. That's when 

10 the A7U unit closing occurred. But going along, everything is 

11 fine, Mr. Britton-Harr is paying for that. And then we get to 

12 the summer of 2006, which is when all of these other events I've 

13 been talking to you about started to happen. 

14 And part of the deal was, when Mr. Britton-Harr bought 

15 the A7U unit, was that about $40,000 would be paid by him 

16 eventually to Ms. Britton for having financed basically this 

17 transaction for him, so that she could realize a profit of 

18 $40,000 through her investment in this matter. 

19 And we believe the evidence will show that around 

20 August 3rd, 2006, that Mr. Britton-Harr did refinance on that 

21 unit. In fact, the property had been quitclaimed back to him in 

22 the summer of 2006, around July of 2006. He refinanced on it, 

23 and that closing called for $40,000 to go to Ms. Britton --

24 Karyn Britton. I'll try to use both names because the names are 

25 so similar I don't want to confuse y'all here. 
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1 Essentially the monies, we believe the evidence will 

2 show, from that $40,000 was used to assist some of the 

3 transactions we've been talking about, the transactions for C46 

4 or A19 or BlO. I believe some of the money went as payment for 

5 two of those units, and we'll get into those details later. 

6 Now, the document -- the loan application for A19U was 

7 signed by Mr. Britton-Harr through a power of attorney -- he was 

8 the Realtor -- on July 29th, 2006, which is a little over a 

9 month after the contracts were signed. Karyn Britton signed 

10 specific powers of attorney for each unit giving Mr. 

11 Britton-Harr, her Realtor, authority to sign off on the 

12 documents at closing. 

13 And you will see closing paper after closing paper for 

14 Al9U, for C46U, and for BlO that were signed by Todd 

15 Britton-Harr as power of attorney for Ms. Britton. 

16 We believe you will hear testimony to the effect that 

17 the loan application itself -- the loan application itself for 

18 Unit A19U was prepared physically by the lender. In other 

19 words, it's not where you, the borrower, somehow go in and fill 

20 in the blanks and write it in or type it in. That is not what 

21 the evidence will show was happening in this case or any of the 

22 other closings. 

23 You'll see there were several different lenders 

24 involved with different units. It seems like MortgageIT, a 

25 company then, was financing a lot of these transactions. 
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1 were a broker, and they were also apparently financing them and 

2 then selling the mortgages later. And in this case you'll see 

3 that the lender was Wells Fargo. The lender was Wells Fargo. 

4 And so the loan application that you will see coming 

5 into evidence, it will have Karyn Britton's name on it, she's 

6 the borrower, not Todd Britton-Harr. Okay. The loan 

7 application will be very clear. Karyn Britton and I believe her 

8 husband's name is on the loan application. 

9 And both names will eventually get on the mortgages 

10 and the deed, but essentially she's the one pushing the 

11 transactions. Her name is on the application, and the Defendant 

12 is signing all of these documents at closing. 

13 We're going to ask y'all -- if y'all have bought homes 

14 or been through closings before -- I suspect most of you have 

15 been through that nightmare, and I don't have to describe the 

16 process to you. It's a lot of paperwork. You get in there and 

17 they shove a lot of forms at you, and you're signing away. 

18 He did that as her Realtor pursuant to a power of 

19 attorney. That's not disputed either. So that's -- when the 

20 prosecutor says it's a simple case, most of these facts as to 

21 who signed what or what papers were signed and what they say 

22 really are not going to be in dispute. 

23 The real issue is going to be, who provided the 

24 information to the lender? Why is it -- and this is what one of 

25 the key issues will be, it's alleged in the indictment. 
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1 Government is saying -- and it's true -- on the loan application 

2 itself where you have assets and liabilities and the closing 

3 on Al9U occurred on August 14th, 2006. 

4 The loan application is signed that very day, okay, 

5 and it has -- it -- you know, basically what you're going to see 

6 is, it doesn't have the unit known as C46U listed on there 

7 anywhere. It doesn't have a C46U unit listed on there. It 

8 doesn't have BlO specifically listed. In other words, you will 

9 not see the number C46 or the number BlO anywhere. 

10 What you will see on application -- and this is where 

11 things may start getting a little confusing to you is, there 

12 will be evidence that Ms. Britton owned a home in Bradenton, 

13 Florida, okay. She had owned a home in Bradenton, Florida, 

14 which had been listed on the transactions for C46 and BlO. I 

15 mean, that wasn't hidden. There it was, Bradenton, Florida, a 

16 mortgage. It shows the address in Bradenton, the amount of the 

17 mortgage, and what the monthly payments are going to be. 

18 It even showed A7U, the other unit that she had bought 

19 and had an interest in at the time -- or at least she thought 

20 she did despite the quitclaim. But at any rate, A7U was listed 

21 in that loan application for BlO. 

22 What you will see on the loan application for Al9U is, 

23 when you get to the assets and liabilities, on the one page for 

24 the assets and liabilities in the upper left-hand corner you 

25 will see the address not for Bradenton -- not for the Bradenton, 
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1 Florida home. 

2 You will see an address for the Purple Parrot Village 

3 address there twice; you will see it twice. And you will see 

4 next to that address in each one the letter A, just basically 

5 two references to the Purple Parrot Village address suggesting 

6 that there's some kind of property there that she has an asset 

7 of pertaining to two instances to the Purple Village (sic). 

8 Then to the right you will see mortgage information 

9 that doesn't jibe with that exactly. What you will see is, you 

10 will see mortgage information that pertains to A7U, even though 

11 A7U isn't even really specifically specified in that address. 

12 It's just an address for some kind of unit at the Purple Parrot. 

13 And then you will see mortgage information -- again, 

14 this is on the Al9U loan application. You will see mortgage 

15 information that pertains to the Bradenton home. So you've got 

16 an address over here that apparently refers to something over at 

17 Purple Parrot Village. And then if you actually study the 

18 numbers carefully, it will show, well, it's really the numbers 

19 for the Bradenton house, even though the address isn't there on 

20 the loan, and it will show mortgage information that pertains to 

21 A7U. 

22 Now, we can't argue -- now, I can't argue what the 

23 significance of that is, but that is information you will hear 

24 and that we have the opportunity to discuss with you after all 

25 the evidence is in. 
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1 Now, as I said, this loan is what they call a no 

2 document loan, and you'll be hearing information about that 

3 process. 

4 And so in the first count the Defendant is accused of 

5 a scheme to defraud a financial institution basically by 

6 knowingly falsely allegedly providing false material or 

7 misinformation to Wells Fargo. And the second count basically 

8 is providing false information and application to influence the 

9 institution in deciding to make the loan. 

10 So that's where we are. The Defendant at this point 

11 is presumed innocent, so you've each committed -- you don't have 

12 you believe in his innocence at this time. You assume him to 

13 be innocent. As the judge indicated, you don't start forming 

14 your judgments until you've heard everything and you've been 

15 instructed on the law and then you go back into that jury room. 

16 So please do not form any hard opinions on the basis of parts of 

17 the evidence as it progresses. 

18 As the judge indicated to you, they won't give you a 

19 transcript. There's going to be some detail here, some numbers. 

20 I just hope that what I've discussed with you now will help you 

21 follow it as this all unfolds. Thank you very much for your 

22 attention. 

23 THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, this is the time in 

24 the trial when the Government will present its case. 

25 You may call your first witness. 
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1 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, the Government will call 

2 Ms. Cheryl Woodbury. 

3 CHERYL WOODBURY, GOVERNMENT WITNESS, DULY SWORN 

4 THE CLERK: Be seated. State your full name and spell 

5 your last name. 

6 THE WITNESS: Cheryl E. Woodbury, W-0-0-D-B-U-R-Y. 

7 THE COURT: All right, Mr. Goldberg. 

8 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

9 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

10 Q. Ms. Woodbury, good afternoon. 

11 A. Good afternoon. 

12 Q. What is your occupation? 

13 A. I am an underwriting manager for Wells Fargo. 

14 Q. And how long have you been with Wells Fargo Bank? 

15 A. Six-and-a-half years. 

16 Q. Could you please explain to the ladies and gentlemen of the 

17 jury what an underwriting manager does for Wells Fargo Bank. 

18 A. I'm responsible for managing all of the underwriters whose 

19 decision it is to approve our loans at Wells Fargo. 

20 Q. Is that what the duties of an underwriter is, to 

21 investigate -- please explain what they do. 

22 A. So the duties of an underwriter is to actually make sound 

23 lending decisions as well as review, analyze, and underwrite 

24 files based on our company guidelines and industry guidelines, 

25 as well as managing risks for our company and our secondary 
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1 market investors. 

2 Q. And is Wells Fargo Bank a federally insured financial 

3 institution? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, I'm going to move to admit 

6 a stipulated exhibit, which is Government's Exhibit 1, the proof 

7 of insurance status of Wells Fargo I believe counsel has 

8 stipulated to. 

9 THE COURT: That will be admitted. 

10 (Government's Exhibit 1 admitted into evidence.) 

11 MR. GOLDBERG: And if I may publish it with the 

12 Court's permission. 

13 THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, I do want you to 

14 understand that you will have all the exhibits that are admitted 

15 into the record for your careful and detailed study during your 

16 deliberations. So don't be concerned if it's not shown to you 

17 as long as you might like or what other witnesses may refer to 

18 it and counsel may refer to it in their closing, but regardless, 

19 you'll have it for your careful study. 

2 0 BY MR. GOLDBERG : 

21 Q. Ms. Woodbury, can you see the document Government's Exhibit 

22 1 on that computer screen in front of you? 

23 A. 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

Yes. 

Could you read paragraph No. 1, please. 

''I, Thomas E. Nixon, hereby certify and attest that I am a 
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1 counsel at the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and that I 

2 have the official custody of the records of the Federal Deposit 

3 Insurance Corporation.'' 

4 Q. And could you read paragraph 3, please. 

5 A. ''I further certify that insurance applicable to the main 

6 office of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, is applicable 

7 to any domestic U.S. branch office of Wells Fargo Bank, NA." 

8 Q. And on the back of Government's Exhibit 1, is that the 

9 certification of the FDIC that Wells Fargo and its banks arc 

10 insured? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. Ma'am, I'm going to direct your attention to August 2006. 

13 Were you working as an underwriting manager at that time? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. And were you asked to conduct an underwriting review for 

16 Wells Fargo Bank regarding Unit A19U at the Purple Parrot 

17 Village in Pcrdido Key, Florida? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. And was that because Wells Fargo Bank was going to be the 

20 lender? 

21 A. That is correct. 

22 Q. Could you tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury who the 

23 borrower was for Unit Al9U? 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

The borrower was Karyn Britton. 

And could you tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury who 
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1 the Realtor for the transaction was. 

2 A. The Realtor was Todd Britton-Harr. 

3 Q. Were you, as the underwriter, ever made aware of a family 

4 relationship between the two of them? 

5 A. No. 

6 Q. Could you tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury what 

7 Unit A19U was supposed to be occupied as? 

8 A. The application was for primary residence at Al9U. 

9 Q. And could you tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury 

10 what liabilities, that is, what debts were listed on the 

11 paperwork that you saw for Unit A19U? 

12 MR. KYPREOS: Your Honor, we'd object. The best 

13 evidence would be the document itself. 

14 THE COURT: Objection is overruled. 

15 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

16 Q. Please continue. What did you see on the documents as to 

17 the liabilities listed on Al9U? 

18 A. There was the residence that she currently resided at in 

19 Bradenton, Florida, and another unit at 1355 (sic) Perdido Way 

20 in Pensacola, Florida, which was Unit 7U. 

21 Q. 

22 A. 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

So it was one unit and one house in Bradenton? 

That's correct. 

There weren't multiple units listed, were there? 

No, there were not multiple units. 

Did you approve the loan for Wells Fargo Bank? 

Donna L. Boland, RPR, FCRR 
United States Court Reporter 

One North Palafox Street * Pensacola, Florida 32502 
850.470.8189 

33 

A-58



Cheryi Woodbury - Direct/Goidberg 34 

1 A. Yes, I did. 

2 Q. And if I can back up, can you tell the ladies and gentlemen 

3 of the jury and explain, are things such as a family 

4 relationship or recent multiple liabilities or debts, are those 

5 important for your decision-making as an underwriter? 

6 MR. KYPREOS: Objection to the form of the question. 

7 It's multiple -- it's two components. 

8 THE COURT: Overruled. 

9 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

10 Q. Can you tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury what's 

11 important when you're trying to approve a loan and if those 

12 things are important? 

13 A. What's important is that the application be accurate and 

14 correct, and that we base our decision based on what the 

15 application provides. 

16 Q. Could those things make a loan risky? 

17 A. Absolutely. 

18 Q. And you didn't have that information? 

19 A. We did not have that additional information, no. 

20 MR. GOLDBERG: If I may have the Court's indulgence? 

21 That's all I have, Your Honor. 

22 THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, this 

23 then is the time when the Defense attorney has the opportunity 

24 of cross-examining the witness. 

25 Mr. Kypreos? 
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1 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

2 BY MR. KYPREOS: 

3 Q. Good afternoon. My name is Spiro Kypreos, and I'm 

4 representing Mr. Britton-Harr in this matter. 

5 A. Good afternoon. 

6 Q. And your last name is Woodbury? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. Ms. Woodbury, how did this loan application come to Wells 

9 Fargo? 

10 A. Can you clarify the question? 

11 Q. Right. Did somebody walk into Wells Fargo Bank in 

12 Pensacola and say, ''We want to make a loan,'' or did y'all get it 

13 from another mortgage company? How was this loan originated? 

14 A. It's originated through what we call a home mortgage 

15 consultant. 

16 Q. 

17 A. 

18 Q. 

19 A. 

20 Q. 

21 A. 

22 Q. 

23 A. 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

I'm sorry, what, ma'am? 

A home mortgage consultant would take the application. 

Home mortgage consultant? 

Uh-huh. 

And who is the home mortgage consultant in this case? 

Gary Owens. 

Who? 

Gary Owens. 

And where was he located at the time? 

In our Amherst office. 
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1 Q. Amherst? 

2 A. New York. 

3 Q. New York, okay. So when you say -- are you saying 

4 literally a loan application came to his desk? 

5 A. I would not have that information. I can go based on only 

6 what the application states. 

7 Q. Okay. Do you know whether or not the loan itself was 

8 originated by a mortgage broker? 

9 A. The loan with Wells Fargo Home Mortgage was originated by 

10 Wells Fargo Home Mortgage. 

11 Q. So it wasn't the case of another mortgage company asking 

12 Wells Fargo to do the transaction? A mortgage brokerage tried 

13 to obtain loans for real estate purchasers; is that correct? 

14 A. So -- just so I can clarify that question, I work in the 

15 retail division, and we do not do loans with brokers. 

16 Q. Okay. Do you know how Mr. Gary Owens was sitting in his 

17 office in New York and some day he receives a loan application? 

18 Do you know who sent it to him? 

19 MR. GOLDBERG: Objection. Calls for speculation. 

20 THE COURT: Objection is overruled to the question. 

2 1 BY MR. KYPREOS : 

22 Q. Do you know how it got to his desk, who sent it to him? 

23 A. No, I would not know that. 

24 Q. But you looked at the file, you said, right? 

25 A. Right, our application. I can tell you how the application 

Donna L. Boland, RPR, FCRR 
United States Court Reporter 

One North Palafox Street * Pensacola, Florida 32502 
850.470.8189 

A-61



Cheryi Woodbury - Cross/Kypreos 37 

1 was marked. It was marked as a telephone ap. 

2 Q. Telephone ap, okay. Do you have your file for this 

3 transaction with you? Do you have that with you? 

4 A. No, I don't have it with me right now, no. 

5 Q. Do y'all receive the Residential Sales Agreements for these 

6 transactions? 

7 A. Yes, we do. 

8 Q. And did you review the Residential Sales Agreement as part 

9 of your review of whether or not to make the loan? 

10 A. Yes, I did. 

11 MR. KYPREOS: Your Honor, I don't know if we're going 

12 to do this electronically. I've got an extra copy I'm going to 

13 show the witness. I just put it right here? 

14 THE COURT: Yes, sir. 

15 MR. KYPREOS: I haven't dealt with this particular 

16 machine in a while. I assume it's on. 

1 7 BY MR. KYPREOS : 

18 Q. Can you see that, ma'am? 

19 A. No. It's not legible. Can you increase the font size? 

20 MR. KYPREOS: I'm afraid the copy we were provided is 

21 a poor copy. Your Honor, may I simply hand her a copy of this? 

22 THE COURT: You may, or you can use the zoom button. 

2 3 BY MR. KYPREOS : 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

Does that help any? 

Yeah. So you'll have to move it around so I can --
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1 Q. Yeah, I know. Okay, there's page one, ma'am, and then 

2 there's page two with some signatures on it. Can you see that? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. Can you see that? 

5 A. Yes, I can see that. 

6 Q. Do you see a typed name there --

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. -- for the buyer and a typed name for the seller? 

9 A. Correct. 

10 Q. And then you see this other page with Standards for Real 

11 Estate Transactions? 

12 A. What was that question? I'm sorry. 

13 Q. Do you see the page entitled "Standards for Real Estate 

14 Transactions"? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. I just want to make sure you can see this. And then 

17 there's an address there -- I'm showing you an address with 

18 Al9U? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. And then there's a signature again dated June 27 of '06. 

21 Can you see that? 

22 A. 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

Can you move it to the top. 

Yeah. Do you see the date June 27? 

I see the date, yes. 

And can you see the signature there? 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. Again, can you see the date and the signatures on there? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. And can you see the typed names above? 

5 A. The typed names above? 

6 Q. It's at the very top of the page? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. This is Addendum 1 we're looking at? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. And then can you see Addendum 2 and the typed names at the 

11 top and the signatures and date at the bottom? You see those? 

12 A. I can see it, yes. 

13 Q. Well, I mean, do you see -- can you see the contents of the 

14 document there as it's blown up? I'm trying to move it across 

15 for you slowly. 

16 A. I can see the sentence here, yes. 

17 Q. Do you recognize this document as being a copy of the real 

18 estate sales agreement by Karyn J. Britton for Unit Al9? 

19 A. Can you repeat the question? 

20 Q. Yeah. Do you recognize that as being the Residential Sales 

21 Agreement for Al9, the one that was sent to y'all? 

22 A. No, I do not. 

23 Q. You don't recognize that? 

24 A. That's not the one that was sent to me. That's not the one 

25 that I approved. 
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1 Q. Where is the one that you approved? 

2 A. It's in our file. 

3 Q. Do you have it with you? 

4 A. No, I do not have it with me. 

5 MR. KYPREOS: That document, for the record, was 

6 marked -- I'd ask to be marked for identification as Defendant's 

7 Exhibit 5.1 that I was referring to just a minute ago, Your 

8 Honor. 

9 BY MR. KYPREOS: 

10 Q. I'd like to show you a document marked for identification 

11 only as Defendant's Exhibit 5.2. Hopefully since this one is 

12 typed it would be easier for you, more legible. 

13 MR. KYPREOS: Your Honor, if I may, I'd like to 

14 approach because the print on these things are so small it's 

15 hard to 

16 THE COURT: Well, you're not going to be able to stand 

17 up there the whole time. So if you've got a copy to provide 

18 her, that will be fine. 

19 BY MR. KYPREOS: 

20 Q. I'd like to show you what's been marked for identification 

21 as Defendant's Exhibit 5.2. Do you recognize that as being a 

22 copy of the Uniform Residential Loan Application that was 

23 submitted to Wells Fargo in reference to Unit Al9U? 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

Yes. 

Thank you. 
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1 MR. KYPREOS: If we may, Your Honor, I'd like to move 

2 Defendant's Exhibit 5.2 into evidence. 

3 MR. GOLDBERG: Can I see it? 

4 MR. KYPREOS: Yeah, sure. 

5 MR. GOLDBERG: No objection, Your Honor. 

6 THE COURT: It's admitted. 

7 (Defendant's Exhibit 5.2 admitted into evidence.) 

8 BY MR. KYPREOS : 

9 Q. Now, ma'am, does -- with respect to Defendant's Exhibit 

10 5.2, the Uniform Residential Loan Application, is that a Wells 

11 Fargo loan application form or is that just something used 

12 generally in the industry or what? 

13 A. It's generally used in the industry. 

14 Q. Okay. And does the form anywhere ask if a Realtor is 

15 related to a buyer or seller? 

16 A. It does not. 

17 Q. Did you ever ask anybody in this transaction if they were 

18 related? 

19 A. No, I did not. 

20 Q. Now, was this particular transaction what's referred to in 

21 the industry as a no documents loan? 

22 A. Yes, it was considered what we called an Alt-A loan, 

23 correct. 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

I'm sorry, considered a what, ma'am? 

An Alt-A loan. 
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1 Q. An off A loan? 

2 A. Alt, A-L-T. 

3 Q. Okay, thank you. Sorry about that. Can you explain to the 

4 jury what a no documents loan basically is? What's the contrast 

5 between a loan that is documented and what y'all refer to as a 

6 no document loan? 

7 A. The difference would be the income and the asset 

8 documentation. So a no doc program is we don't verify income 

9 and we don't verify the assets. 

10 Q. And you don't verify the assets? 

11 A. We don't verify liquid assets, correct. 

12 Q. Okay. And a no document loan is a loan usually based on 

13 the person's credit rating? 

14 A. You probably want to be a little bit clearer with that 

15 question. What do you mean by based on a credit rating? 

16 Q. For example, a no documents loan, could somebody apply for 

17 a loan without even stating what their income is? 

18 A. Right, a no doc would -- we would not verify your income, 

19 correct. 

20 Q. Right. So you don't care when the ioan application comes 

21 in whether it has income information or doesn't have income 

22 information because it's a no documents loan? 

23 A. Right. So that would be correct, if it comes in with no 

24 income loan, it doesn't necessarily mean you put --

25 Q. Right. So if somebody gave you a loan application on a no 
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1 documents loan transaction, if there's no information of the 

2 borrower's income, that's no concern to you? 

3 A. For this particular program it was not a concern. 

4 Q. Right. And that wouldn't have been a concern with respect 

5 to Al9U whether there was income stated or not? 

6 A. Not for this program, correct. 

7 Q. Not for this program. Would the person's assets or lack of 

8 assets be a concern in a no document loan? 

9 A. So if you could clarify your question, when you mean 

10 assets, are you saying -- what type of assets are you --

11 Q. Right. Are the type of assets of a person of any concern 

12 to Wells Fargo and in the industry in a no documents loan 

13 transaction? 

14 A. To a certain degree, yes. 

15 Q. To what degree? 

16 A. If it's residential properties that are owned and those 

17 funds that are being used are required for the sale. 

18 Q. For what? I'm sorry. 

19 A. If the assets from the sale of a property are being used, 

20 we would ask for documentation that that existed. 

21 Q. If they're being used? 

22 A. Correct. 

23 Q. If they're an investment do you ask for any documentation? 

24 If the assets is an investment, just an investment in, say, 

25 another condominium, is that something you're concerned about? 
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1 A. Okay, your question is not clear at all. 

2 Q. If the borrower makes a loan application and indicates as 

3 one of their assets that they own a condominium, okay, is that 

4 of any concern to Wells Fargo? 

5 A. Yes, that would be of a concern to Wells Fargo as far as 

6 qualifying the customer. 

7 Q. Okay. So if the customer owned, let's say, Unit A7U at 

8 Purple Parrot, would you want documentation as to that 

9 condominium? 

10 A. Yes. And in this particular case I asked for 

11 documentation. 

12 Q. And did you get documentation for A7U? 

13 A. The request was that proof that the mortgages on that 

14 particular property were being paid off. 

15 Q. Okay. Now, if you would, please look at page 2 of 

16 Defendant's Exhibit 5.2, the loan application for Al9U. There's 

17 no indication at the very top of the page on the part for 

18 monthly income as to what Karyn Britten's income was, correct? 

19 A. That is correct. 

20 Q. Okay. And you didn't ask to get that information because 

21 you didn't need it? 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. This particular program does not require that. 

Q. Now, if you go on to page 3, okay -- and I may have to 

correct myself from something I said earlier no, that's 

right. Let me ask you this, because I'm not trying to trick you 
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1 here: This particular application, if you go to the last page 

2 -- or excuse me. On page 3, if you go to the bottom, it's 

3 signed by Gary Owens; is that correct? 

4 A. Correct. 

5 Q. And it's dated July 25th of 2006; is that correct? To the 

6 right of Gary Owens 

7 A. I believe that says 7/25/06. 

8 Q. '06, right? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. And then off to the left over there of his signature, do 

11 you see telephone? 

12 A. Correct. 

13 MR. KYPREOS: Your Honor, may we publish this? 

14 THE COURT: Your wish. 

15 MR. KYPREOS: Thank you, Your Honor. 

16 BY MR. KYPREOS: 

17 Q. You see the checkmark for telephone that's checked, right? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. And then that's Gary Owens' signature there; is that 

20 correct? 

21 A. That's correct. 

22 Q. Okay. Now, what is that signifying to you in terms of your 

23 internal recordkeeping? When you see Gary Owens' signature on 

24 this document and you see telephone checked, what does that tell 

25 you? 
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1 A. It tells me as an underwriter that the applica~ion was 

2 taken via telephone and Gary was the HMC on the loan. 

3 Q. That the application was taken --

4 A. Via telephor1e. 

5 Q. Is there any indication on the application where he took 

6 the -- who he took the application from? 

A. Onl~/ based on the application tha:: I have, it would be from 

8 Karyn Britton. 

9 Q. And you would assume that because going back to page 1 o~ 

10 the exhibit, her name appears as the borrower; is that correct? 

11 A. Tl1a t 1 s correct. 

12 Q. So just based on the document al()ne, yoti. would assume that 

13 had contact with Ka~yn Britton; is that correct? 

14 A. She's the only applicant on this loan, correct. 

15 Q. Okay. Now, what if a borrower has their attorney call up 

16 to make the loan application, w!1at does Wells Fargo do then? 

A. Because I 1 rn ar1 underwriter and not an I-IMC, I can 1 t reall:-2' 

18 tell you how a loan is originated except when it gets to - me. So 

19 what I base my decision on is what a~ application states once it 

20 reaches my desk. 

21 Q. Now, this particular exhibit is not signed by the borrower 

22 or any agent of the borrower, correct? 

23 A. Correct, telephone applications are sent to the borrower 

24 after the fact to sign and verify. 

25 Q. So this is basically -- this was truly just an application; 
A-71 
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it wasn't used to -- at a closing -- there's no closing date --

there's no signature by the borrower on this? 

A. You won't get a closing date on an application. 

Q. You won't what? 

A. You won't get a closing date on an application. 

Q. Right. Now, in this process, if you know --

MR. KYPREOS: If I may approach again, Your Honor? 

THE COURT: If necessary. 

BY MR. KYPREOS: 

Q. I'd like to ask you if you recognize this as being a copy 

of a loan application dated -- as being signed by Karyn S. 

Britton by Todd looks like POA. I'll let you decipher that. 

And I'd ask you if you recognize Defendant's Exhibit 5.6 as 

being an application that was ultimately signed on behalf of the 

borrower and dated August 14th, 2006? 

A. Yes, this would be the final application that's signed at 

the closing table. 

Q. And was August -- you keep that copy. It might be easier 

than using the machine. That was signed August 14th, 2006, next 

to the borrower's signature line; is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Okay. Now, if you would 

MR. KYPREOS: Well, Your Honor, first I guess I should 

move this into evidence. I'd like to move Defense Exhibit 5.6 

into evidence, Your Honor. 
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1 MR. GOLDBERG: No objection. 

2 THE COURT: It's admitted. 

3 (Defendant's Exhibit 5.6 admitted into evidence.) 

4 BY MR. KYPREOS: 

5 Q. On page 3 of Defendant's Exhibit --

6 MR. KYPREOS: If I may publish, Your Honor? 

7 BY MR. KYPREOS: 

8 Q. You can look at the screen if you desire or the copy that 

9 you have or whatever your pleasure is, ma'am. At the very top 

10 we see Schedule of Real Estate Owned; is that correct? 

11 A. That's correct. 

12 Q. And the address we see for the property is what, 1355 (sic) 

13 Perdido Key, Unit A-blank, no number; is that correct? 

14 A. Yeah, that's what we see here. 

15 Q. And then we see another line, same thing, right underneath 

16 that, 13555 Perdido Key, Unit A? 

17 A. That's correct. 

18 Q. And then something that says "See attached''? 

19 A. Uh-huh. 

20 Q. Okay. Now, going back to Defendant's Exhibit 5.2 on the 

21 same page and the same part of the form, we see in one part 5709 

22 36th Street West, Bradenton, Florida, 34210, right? 

23 A. That's correct. 

24 Q. And then we see 13555 Perdido Key, Unit A7U, Pensacola, 

25 Florida 32507? 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. Ma'am, do you know whether or not Unit A7U, in fact, was 

3 not owned by Ms. Karyn Britton on that date? 

4 A. What date? 

5 Q. August 14th, the day of the closing -- I'm sorry, jumping 

6 ahead -- August 14th, 2006. 

7 A. Do I know for a fact that 

8 Q. Do you know whether or not she even actually owned that 

9 property that date? 

10 A. On that date that property was supposedly to be sold. 

11 According to our application -- as you see here where it says 

12 "PS," that means it was pending sale. And when I underwrote the 

13 file, I conditioned that those mortgages be paid off because 

14 that property was being sold. 

15 Q. Well, this particular exhibit we're again back to the 

16 application that wasn't signed on August 14th. This exhibit is 

17 the one that's signed on July 25th where Gary Owens makes the 

18 application, right? 

19 A. The initial application, correct. 

20 Q. The initial application, okay. And then you're showing 

21 that as pending sale of A7U? 

22 A. 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

That's correct. 

That was your understanding at the time, right? 

Yes. 

Now, going back to Exhibit 5.6, if we look at the numbers 
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1 for the market value and for the mortgage and for the monthly 

2 mortgage payments, okay, that's on the August 14th document. I 

3 want to make that clear, August 14th. We see the 300,000 and 

4 the rest of the figures, right? 

5 A. Correct. 

6 Q. And then if we take Defendant's Exhibit 5.2, which is the 

7 July 25th, '06, application, we see a set of numbers there as 

8 well; is that correet? 

9 A. For which property? 

10 Q. We see the figures for the Bradenton property and we see 

11 the figures for the -- I'm sorry -- A7U, right? 

12 A. Correct. 

13 Q. So basically when we go back to Defendant's Exhibit 5.6 and 

14 we see the two at 13555 Perdido Key, Unit A, those numbers that 

15 we see in that form really aren't from two units at Perdido Key 

16 out at the Purple Parrot? 

17 A. Right. 

18 Q. One set of figures would be for the Bradenton home; is that 

19 correct? 

20 A. That's correct. 

21 Q. And would the Bradenton home be the $196,878? 

22 A. Yes. 

23 Q. And then for the other figure up there it would be for the 

24 Unit A7U? 

25 A. When you say ''other figure'' what figure are you --
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Q. I 1 m sorry. Very good. $223,472. 

2 A. So both the figures, the 5223,472 and the 137 belong to A7U 

3 unit? 

Q. A7C. But A7U isn't designated in the address box, is it? 

A. It's designated on the ''See Attached'1 portion. 

G Q. But it 1 s net designated on that part? 

7 A. Not on this part. 

8 Q. '.:'hen there's an attacned portion, right? 

9 A. Correct. 

10 Q. Is this part the attached part you're referring to? Please 

11 look at your copy. 

12 A. That is not the attached piece. 

13 Q. Oh, it 1 s not the attached piece? 

14 A. The attached piece is the additional 

Q. I'm sorry, what's the attached piece? 

16 A. It 1 s the real estate owned section. 

17 Q. Would that be the previous page? 

18 A. I don't see the page here. 

19 Q. I don't either. I haven't seen a copy of it in the 

20 docurnents tl1at 's been :r)ro\rided --

21 MR. GOLDBERG: Objec::ion. 

22 THE COURT: Sustained. 

23 MR. GOLDBERG: It has, and it's an exhibit that will 

24 be entered by the Government. 

25 MR. KYPREOS: Okay, fine. 
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1 BY MR. KYPREOS: 

2 Q. But you're telling me then that we'll see an attached page 

3 that shows what? I'm sorry. 

4 A. It shows the real estate owned section for all the 

5 properties listed under that section. And if I can just 

6 explain? 

7 Q. Sure. 

8 A. Why it doesn't show there is because we have a printing 

9 limit to the number of characters. 

10 Q. Oh, I see. 

11 A. So the landscape section would show the correct address 

12 with the dollar amounts as you see here. 

13 Q. Do you know if that -- do you have a copy of the 

14 application that was actually, other than this, that would have 

15 the attachments, do you have that? 

16 A. I don't have anything here with me right now. 

17 Q. Now, going baek to Defendant's Exhibit 5.6 which is the one 

18 dated August 14th, 2006, do you see MortgageIT and you see "See 

19 Attached'' and you see $223,472? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. Is that also A7U? 

22 A. That's the mortgage attached to A7U. 

23 Q. Is that the attachment you referred to before or was it a 

24 different attachment? 

25 A. It's all on the same attached. 
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1 Q. Now, the loan application is apparently -- that we've been 

2 looking at the Defendant's Exhibit 5.6 -- is dated the same date 

3 as the closing, right? 

4 A. Correct. 

5 Q. Now, the loan application process itself had actually 

6 commenced before that; is that correct? 

7 A. That's correct. 

8 Q. When y'all take a telephone application like that, do y'all 

9 do anything to verify who it is that's really calling in and 

10 making sure they are who they say they are? 

11 A. Now, when you say ''they,'' who are you referring to? 

12 Q. In this case, Karyn Britton. You say Gary Owens made a 

13 telephone contact and you assumed it was with Karyn Britton 

14 because her name is on the application. Is there -- is there 

15 any requirement that the person, you know, write a letter or do 

16 anything to confirm that they're the ones making the 

17 application? 

18 A. The application itself states on it that you agree that 

19 this is accurate information that's been given. Now, as an HMC, 

20 Gary Owens, I can't speak to what he does as his job. Again, 

21 I'm an underwriting manager and underwrote this file. 

22 As an underwriter, we're required to follow the CIP program 

23 guidelines which verify that the person that took the 

24 application is actually the person that made the application. 

25 Q. Now, with respect to the July 25th, '06, document we looked 
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1 at in Defendant's Exhibit 5. 2, it's all nice and neatly typed 

2 up, right? 

3 A. I'm sorry, which application is this? 

4 Q. This is the July 25th, '06 one. 

5 A. Correct. 

6 Q. It's all typed up, right? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. Who typed that up? 

9 A. It comes off of a system, an application on the web. 

10 Q. Application on the web? 

11 A. Correct. It's called AOW, which is our system that we use. 

12 Q. How does that work? Does the borrower go to the web and --

13 A. No. It's an internal -- it's an application system for our 

14 loan officers, HMC. 

15 Q. Oh, I see. So that was prepared physically by Wells Fargo, 

16 this typed-up form? 

17 A. Correct. 

18 Q. Did Gary Owens prepare it or you prepare it? 

19 A. The HMC would prepare it as he's taking the application. 

20 Q. Do you know where this information came from in Defendant's 

21 Exhibit 5.6? 

22 A. Do I know where it came from? 

23 Q. Yeah. Where did Wells Fargo get the information to put in 

24 the system and type it up? Where did that come from? 

25 A. It would come from whoever phoned the application in. My 
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1 decision would be based on that this particular person on the 

2 application as the applicant would have given that information 

3 to the BMC. 

4 Q. So it would be Karyn Britton? 

5 A. Yes, the applicant. 

6 Q. Now, is the information that's in Defendant's Exhibit 5.6 

7 the one that was signed on the date of the closing -- was 

8 that essentially going back to the computer and taking what was 

9 there and basically just reformatting it so it could be signed 

10 on August 14th, 2006? 

11 A. Okay, so -- I'm sorry, but your question was not clear at 

12 all. 

13 Q. That's okay. Bad habit I've got. Here we go. Let's try 

14 this: In other words, y'all got this Exhibit 5.2 and y'all had 

15 all the information you got that time, right, back on July -- we 

16 know it's there at least as of July 26th '06, right? 

17 A. Correct, that information is on the application, correct. 

18 Q. So that information is now in your computer? It's there? 

19 You've received it, right? 

20 A. Correct. 

21 Q. So basically when you then prepare the 5.6 exhibit 

22 document, the one that's dated August 14th, 2006, are y'all 

23 basically just going to your computer and printing out what's 

24 already there? 

25 A. So that's not actually accurate. 
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1 Q. Well, that's what I'm trying to get clarified. 

2 A. Okay. So 5.2, which is the initial application as taken by 

3 the loan officer, it's the initial application. The process 

4 involves verifying the information. Once the information is 

5 verified, that application is then sent to the closing table for 

6 the applicant to sign it to state that everything on it is 

7 accurate and true. 

8 So what happens here is, the HMC on 5.2 gives us the 

9 information as stated by the applicant; we confirm and verify 

10 that information on 5.6. So in other words, the credit report 

11 would give us the accurate balances and whatnot. 

12 Q. Okay. Well, essentially, have you compared the two 

13 documents? Have you compared these two documents, by any 

14 chance, for their content? 

15 A. Compared the two documents for their content? 

16 Q. Yeah, compared the loan -- the July 25th, '06 

17 information -- do you know whether or not the information of 

18 July 25th, '06, is essentially what's also included in the 

19 August 14th, '06? 

20 A. Do you want me to take a look and tell you that now? 

21 Q. Yeah. 

22 A. Everything seems to be in line except the missing 

23 attachment page. 

24 Q. Just those pesky unit numbers, right? Everything is pretty 

25 much the same except we don't have that attachment showing the 
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1 correct unit number? 

2 A. In this document you handed me, correct. 

3 Q. Right. But as far as the data is concerned, the meat of 

4 it, it's essentially the same? 

5 A. Correct. 

6 Q. Okay. Now, going back to the July 25th, '06, Defendant's 

7 Exhibit 5.2 application, the one Mr. Owens took the telephone 

8 application, it's kind of hard to see but there's a section 

9 there that says "Property will be'' -- and then check a box; is 

10 that correct? 

11 A. That's correct. 

12 Q. And the one that's checked is ''primary residence,'' right? 

13 A. That's correct. 

14 Q. And so that would have come from Karyn Britton in making 

15 the application, based on your understanding of this document? 

16 MR. GOLDBERG: Objection, calls for speculation. 

17 THE COURT: Sustained. 

18 MR. KYPREOS: I didn't say she did. I said her 

19 understanding of the document. 

20 THE COURT: Sustained. 

21 MR. KYPREOS: Yes, sir. 

2 2 BY MR. KYPREOS : 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

But anyway, ''prime residence" was checked there, right? 

Yes, "primary residence'' is checked there. 

I'd like to show you what's been marked for identification 
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1 as Defendant's Exhibit 5.3, ma'am. Do you, by any chance, 

2 recognize that document as being an item pertaining to Wells 

3 Fargo and Ms. Britton? Do you recognize that document? 

4 A. No, I don't recognize this document. It's the credit score 

5 document. I mean, I recognize it as a formal form. 

6 Q. Okay. Do you recognize it as a Wells Fargo form letter 

7 regarding credit, a borrower's credit status? Is it a form 

8 letter that Wells Fargo sends out to creditors with regard to 

9 information that's obtained regarding the borrower's credit 

10 status? Do you recognize it as that? 

11 A. So your question is credit status? What do you mean by 

12 that? 

13 Q. Regarding the person's credit score, is it a standard --

14 A. Right. By law they are required to be given their credit 

15 score. 

16 Q. Exactly. And that's a form letter that y'all send out to 

17 the borrower letting them know what their credit score was on a 

18 particular day? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. So you do recognize this as being a form letter that Wells 

21 Fargo sends out of that nature? 

22 A. Yes, it's a credit score notification. 

23 Q. Okay, thank you. 

24 MR. KYPREOS: Your Honor, I'd like to move Defendant's 

25 Exhibit 5.3 into evidence. 
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1 MR. GOLDBERG: No objection, Your Honor. 

2 THE COURT: It's admitted. 

3 (Defendant's Exhibit 5.3 admitted into evidence.) 

4 BY MR. KYPREOS: 

5 Q. Now, the date of this letter is July 25th, 2006; is that 

6 correct? 

7 A. Yes, that's what this says. 

8 Q. And it was addressed to whom? 

9 A. Karyn J. Britton. 

10 Q. 5709 36th Street West, Bradenton, correct? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. And it basically was letting her know what her credit score 

13 was; is that correct? 

14 A. Yes, that's correct. 

15 Q. Now, this was obviously before August 14th -- Defendant's 

16 Exhibit 5.3, this letter, was obviously written before August 

17 14th, 2006, correct? 

18 A. Yes. It's part of the initial application process. 

19 Q. Okay. And why do you send that to the borrower? Why do 

20 you send this form letter to them? I believe you mentioned it 

21 earlier. 

22 A. There are several disclosures that have to go out to the 

23 borrower within a certain amount of time of the application 

24 being taken. So it's a compliant document for credit reporting 

25 purposes. 
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1 Q. Would Wells Fargo also have received an appraisal 

2 pertaining to this unit before approving a loan? 

3 A. Yes, we would have an appraisal before approving a loan. 

4 Q. You're not -- Wells Fargo is not involved in distributing 

5 closing documents after the closing, are they, as far as sending 

6 documents to the borrower? Let me put it this way to you: 

7 After the closing is completed, what, if anything, do y'all send 

8 to the borrower? 

9 A. ''Y'all" would be who? 

10 Q. Wells Fargo. 

11 A. Which entity? 

12 Q. Do y'all send a notice -- a book as to how much payment 

13 they're going to have to make? What do you send to the 

14 borrower, if anything, after the closing is completed and 

15 they've signed the necessary documents and the mortgage is in 

16 effect? 

17 A. Again, I can only speak to the underwriting part of the 

18 loan because that would happen after closing, which is 

19 considered post-closing; completely different department. 

20 MR. KYPREOS: Thank you very much, ma'am. I 

21 appreciate it. May I have just one minute, Your Honor? No 

22 further questions, Your Honor. 

23 THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, the side 

24 calling the witness has opportunity for redirect examination. 

25 Mr. Goldberg? 
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1 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

2 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

3 Q. Good afternoon again, ma'am. 

4 A. Good afternoon. 

5 Q. You have the three Defendant's exhibits in front of you --

6 5. 2, 5. 3, and 5. 6? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. All right. Let's go in numerical order. Take your time 

9 and flip through Defendant's Exhibit 5.2 and tell the ladies and 

10 gentlemen of the jury if on any of those pages you see the 

11 signature of Karyn Britton. 

12 A. So 5.2? 

13 Q. Yes, ma'am. 

14 A. I don't see a signature of Karyn Britton. 

15 Q. Thank you. On Defendant's Exhibit 5.3, please look through 

16 those pages and tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury if you 

17 see the signature of Karyn Britton. 

18 A. No, 5.3 does not have the signature of Karyn Britton. 

19 Q. Let's look at Defendant's Exhibit 5.6. Look through all 

20 the pages in that document and tell me if you see the signature 

21 of Karyn Britton or whether you see a signature that says Karyn 

22 J. Britton by Todd Britton? 

23 A. On 5.6 I see only a signature for Karyn J. Britton by Todd 

24 Britton. 

25 Q. And that's what it says on the front page and again on the 
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1 last page, does it not? 

2 A. It's on page 1, page 3, and page 4. 

3 Q. Karyn J. Britton by Todd Britton? 

4 A. That is correct. 

5 Q. And you didn't speak to Karyn Britton, did you? 

6 A. No, I did not speak to Karyn Britton. 

7 MR. GOLDBERG: I have no nothing further, Your Honor. 

8 THE COURT: You may step down. 

9 (Witness excused.) 

10 THE COURT: And your next witness? 

11 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, the Government would call 

12 Doug Thomas. 

13 DOUGLAS THOMAS, GOVERNMENT WITNESS, DULY SWORN 

14 THE CLERK: Be seated. State your full name and spell 

15 your last name. 

16 THE WITNESS: Douglas Thomas, T-H-0-M-A-S. 

17 THE COURT: All right, Mr. Goldberg. 

18 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

1 9 BY MR. GOLDBERG : 

20 Q. 

21 A. 

22 Q. 

23 A. 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

Mr. Thomas, good afternoon. 

Good afternoon. 

What is your occupation, sir? 

I am a special investigations unit investigator. 

With whom? 

Radian Guaranty. 
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1 Q. And what is Radian Guaranty? 

2 A. It's a rnortgage insurance con1pany. 

3 Q. And liow long have you been with Radian? 

A. Four years. 

5 Q. Could you explain please to the ladies and gentlemen of ~he 

6 jury whaL a mortgage insurance in underwriting review is and 

what it does? 

8 A. Mortgage insurance is insurance that lenders get or. loans 

9 in case o~ defaul~. If the loan goes to default, they will file 

10 a claim and the i.nsurance would pay a claim payment. What we do 

11 in the in·vestigations unit is to review the loan documents prior 

12 to paying a claim for any unde~writ~ng negligence or 

13 misrepresentation on the loan. 

14 Q. And were you asked to conduct a review on Purple Parrot 

15 Village Unit Al9U loan by Wells Fargo Bank? 

16 A. Yes, I was. 

17 Q. And Lhat was after the fact, correct, in 2008? 

18 A. Correct .. 

19 Q. And generally speaking, what did you see during the course 

20 of your investigation? 

21 A. I noticed three issues. There was occupancy 

22 misrepresentation; a non-arm's length ~ransaction, which is with 

23 individuals who are maybe related within the loan; and some 

24 undisclosed debt. 

25 Q. All right. Well, let's talk about the non-arrn 1 s length 
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1 transaction. Is that when parties may be related? 

2 A. Correct. 

3 Q. And is what's the 

4 MR. KYPREOS: Objection, Your Honor, relevance. 

5 THE COURT: Objection is overruled. 

6 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

7 Q. What's the relevance of that? Why is that -- why can that 

8 be a problem? 

9 A. It draws up a red flag that there are people who are 

10 related to each other within a loan or an entity, a business 

11 that may be within the loan. It's typically not in mortgage 

12 lenders. Typically they're arm's length transactions, typically 

13 unrelated parties and people who normally aren't related to each 

14 other. 

15 Q. And in this transaction did the parties, that being the 

16 borrower and the Realtor, both receive funds out of the 

17 transaction? 

18 A. Correct. 

19 Q. Now, you said an occupancy misrepresentation. Please tell 

20 the ladies and gentlemen of the jury regarding Unit Al9U what 

21 you saw. 

22 A. The borrower was supposed to occupy the subject property, 

23 and through my investigation I found that she did not --

24 

25 

MR. KYPREOS: Objection, Your Honor, hearsay. 

THE COURT: Objection is overruled. 
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1 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

2 Q. What did you learn pursuant to your investigation? 

3 A. That she actually stayed at her -- the house that she was 

4 living at the time that she applied for the loan. 

5 Q. All right. And the third issue, I think you said, was a 

6 failure to disclose liabilities. Could you explain what you saw 

7 to the jury. 

8 A. There were two mortgages that were opened just prior to the 

9 transaction but were not on the original credit report but I 

10 found them on an audit credit report. 

11 Q. And were they open -- were all three loans opened within 14 

12 days or so? 

13 A. Yes, within about two weeks of each other. 

14 Q. Can you recall, if you add up the totals of the two prior 

15 loans, approximately how much it was? 

16 A. One was $420,000 and the other, I believe, was $261,000. 

17 Q. So just over $681,000? 

18 A. Correct. 

19 Q. And that wasn't disclosed? 

20 A. No, it was not. 

21 MR. GOLDBERG: If I may have the Court's indulgence 

22 for one moment? 

2 3 BY MR. GOLDBERG : 

24 Q. Why is it important for mortgage insurers to have accurate 

25 information on these documents? 
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1 MR. KYPREOS: Objection, Your Honor, opinion, 

2 relevance. 

3 THE COURT: Objection is overruled. 

4 THE WITNESS: It's important to have the facts so that 

5 we are insuring a loan that we normally would insure. If there 

6 are any types of issues that would injure us if we would have 

7 insured the loan at origination -- we wouldn't have put our 

8 insurance on the loan if we knew some of the facts. 

9 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

10 Q. Is that a risk issue? 

11 A. Oh, yes. 

12 Q. Based on your investigation, if you have three loans so 

13 close together within a 14-day period, are those prior loans 

14 going to pop up on credit checks? 

15 A. No. The credit report would not show them that quickly. 

16 Q. Once you completed your investigation review, what happened 

17 to your findings? Were they forwarded somewhere? 

18 A. Yes. I sent my findings to Wells Fargo, the lender. 

19 Q. And it eventually goes to law enforcement? 

20 A. Correct. 

21 MR. GOLDBERG: That's all I have, Your Honor. 

22 THE COURT: Mr. Kypreos? 

23 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

2 4 BY MR. KYPREOS : 

25 Q. As I understand it, you were saying that if one closing on 
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1 B10 occurred on July 31st of 2006 and then the C46 closing 

2 occurred on August 3rd, 2006, it may not show up in a credit 

3 search by August 14th? 

4 A. No. Typically it takes longer than that. 

5 Q. But the keyword here you're saying is ''typically,'' right? 

6 A. I would say always. 

7 Q. Always? Never would show up? 

8 A. It may but I would highly doubt it. 

9 Q. Okay. Well, do you even know if a -- if Wells Fargo in 

10 this instance even did a credit search to find out what 

11 properties Ms. Britton owned? 

12 MR. GOLDBERG: Objection, improper witness. This 

13 isn't Wells Fargo. 

14 THE COURT: Objection sustained. 

15 BY MR. KYPREOS: 

16 Q. Okay. Well, did you, in the course of your investigation, 

17 find such information? 

18 A. That she had opened up other loans? 

19 Q. That they had done such a credit check? 

20 A. Well, yes. There was an original credit report in the 

21 file. 

22 Q. But did that go to properties or just like credit cards? 

23 A. Properties and credit cards and installment debt. 

24 Q. Okay. So with respect to those transactions, did you find 

25 any credit report reflecting those transactions? 
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1 A. My audit credit report two or three years later. 

2 Q. Two or three years later? That was what, about, '08? 

3 A. Correct. 

4 Q. With respect to this matter of relatives being involved in 

5 transactions, okay, would you agree that if the mortgage lender 

6 wants that information they can simply ask for it? 

7 MR. GOLDBERG: Objection. This isn't the mortgage 

8 lender. 

9 THE COURT: Sustained. 

10 MR. KYPREOS: No further questions. 

11 THE COURT: Redirect? 

12 MR. GOLDBERG: It's not necessary. 

13 THE COURT: You may step down. 

14 (Witness excused.) 

15 THE COURT: Your next witness? 

16 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, the Government would call 

17 Ms. Melody Barnard. 

18 MELODY BARNARD, GOVERNMENT WITNESS, DULY SWORN 

19 THE CLERK: Be seated. State your full name and spell 

20 your last name. 

21 THE WITNESS: Melody Barnard, B-A-R-N-A-R-D. 

22 THE COURT: All right, Mr. Goldberg. 

23 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

2 4 BY MR. GOLDBERG : 

25 Q. Good afternoon, ma'am. 
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1 A. Good afternoon. 

2 Q. What is your occupation? 

3 A. I am a financial investigator for the Florida Off ice of 

4 Financial Regulation. 

5 Q. And how long have you been so employed? 

6 A. A little over a year. 

7 Q. And what was your employment prior to that? 

8 A. I was employed with the Attorney General's Office, the 

9 Medicaid Fraud Control Unit. For two years I was an 

10 investigator, and two-and-a-half I was an analyst. 

11 Q. Were you part of an investigation into alleged false 

12 statements and bank fraud regarding Karyn Britton and Todd 

13 Britton-Harr? 

14 A. I was. 

15 Q. Do you see Todd Britton-Harr here today? 

16 A. I do. 

17 Q. Could you identify him for purposes of the record, please? 

18 A. The gentleman in the black jacket, white shirt, and gray 

19 tie. 

20 Q. At trial table? 

21 A. That is correct. 

22 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, for purposes of the record, 

23 the witness identifying the Defendant. 

24 THE COURT: Granted. 

2 5 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 
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1 Q. The investigation you were involved in, what unit did it 

2 focus on and who was the bank? 

3 A. It was Al9U at the Purple Parrot Village condominium, and 

4 the bank was Wells Fargo Bank. 

5 Q. Purple Parrot Village, those are condominiums on Perdido 

6 Key? 

7 A. Correct. 

8 Q. And pursuant to the investigation, were many records 

9 subpoenaed? 

10 A. Yes, sir. 

11 Q. Now, before we go into the records, could you explain to 

12 the ladies and gentlemen of the jury what types of records may 

13 be involved in mortgage transactions. 

14 A. Yes. We have title files which are maintained in obtaining 

15 title insurance for the purchase of a property. It has 

16 documentation related to the real estate transaction. And in 

17 this case, the title company also acted as the closing agent. 

18 And we also have mortgage files or lender files which contain 

19 documentation related to the financing of the property -- in 

20 this case, Wells Fargo Bank. 

21 Q. 

22 A. 

23 Q. 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

And A19U is the subject of this indictment? 

Yes, sir. 

Were there other purchases prior to Al9U? 

Yes, sir. 

I'd like, if we could, move in chronological order. And I 
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1 will show you what's been marked Government's Exhibits 2A and 2B 

2 for identifieation purposes. I'd ask you first if you reeognize 

3 Government's Exhibit 2A; and if you do, what is it? 

4 A. Yes. 2A is the title file for Unit BlO. 

5 Q. At the Purple Parrot Village? 

6 A. Yes, sir. 

7 Q. And Government's Exhibit 2B? 

8 A. 2B is the lender file for Unit B-10 at the Purple Parrot 

9 Village. 

10 Q. And these have been certified as authentic? 

11 A. Yes, sir. 

12 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, the Government would move 

13 to admit 2A and 2B. 

14 MR. KYPREOS: No objection. 

15 THE COURT: It's admitted. 

16 (Government's Exhibits 2A & 2B admitted into evidence.) 

17 MR. GOLDBERG: And if I may publish? 

18 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

19 Q. Investigator, I'd just like to go through a few pages, if I 

20 could ask you to look at the screen. We're now looking at 

21 Government's Exhibit 2A for Unit BlO. And I'd ask you to look 

22 at what has been stamped page 18. Could you tell the ladies and 

23 gentlemen of the jury what the property address is and who the 

24 buyer's name was? 

25 A. The address is 13555 Perdido Key Drive, Unit BlO, and the 

Donna L. Boland, RPR, FCRR 
United States Court Reporter 

One North Palafox Street * Pensacola, Florida 32502 
850.470.8189 

A-96



Meiody Barnard - Direct/Goidberg 72 

1 buyer's name is Karyn Britton. 

2 Q. And who was the real estate agent? 

3 A. Todd Britton-Harr. 

4 Q. And who was he working for? 

5 A. Trident Realty. 

6 Q. Would you explain to the ladies and gentlemen of the jury 

7 what the page stamped 22 represents? 

8 A. Yes. This is a portion of the disbursement log for the 

9 closing on Unit B10. 

10 Q. Could you just generally explain what a disbursement log 

11 would be? 

12 A. The disbursement log shows all of the payments that were 

13 made out on the closing of a loan -- the real estate agent, the 

14 seller, any other disbursements that are related to the 

15 transaction. 

16 Q. And could you read for the ladies and gentlemen of the jury 

17 if there was a disbursement to the Defendant, Todd Britton-Harr; 

18 and if so, what it was? 

19 A. There was a disbursement to Todd Britton-Harr for repairs 

20 of $30,000 on July 31st, 2006. 

21 Q. And could you read further down as to this disbursement? 

22 A. Yes. There was a disbursement to Trident Realty for 

23 commission of $1,645 also on July 31st, 2006. 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

And just below that? 

Todd Britton-Harr received a disbursement for commission of 
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1 $6, 580 on July 31st, 2006. 

2 Q. I'm now showing you what has been stamped as page 83. 

3 Could you tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury what this 

4 page is? 

5 A. Yes. This is a specific power of attorney that's dated 

6 July 29th, 2006, signed by Karyn Britton and Stephen Britton, 

7 giving power of attorney to Todd Britton-Harr to close on the 

8 Unit BlO, and it was executed in Manatee County, Florida. 

9 Q. That's the Tampa area? 

10 A. Yes, sir. 

11 Q. And this regards Unit BlO? 

12 A. Yes, sir. 

13 Q. And again, what was the date it was executed? 

14 A. July 29th, 2006. 

15 Q. Could you please explain to the ladies and gentlemen of the 

16 jury what page 171 represents. 

17 A. This is the mortgage for Unit BlO dated July 31st, 2006. 

18 Q. And who initialed this at the bottom? 

19 A. Todd Britton-Harr for Karyn Britton and Stephen Britton. 

20 Q. Is Stephen Britton Karyn's husband? 

21 A. Yes, sir. 

22 Q. And how much was the loan for? 

23 A. $420,000. 

24 Q. Now, let's take a look at what has been admitted as 

25 Government's Exhibit 2B. 
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1 MR. GOLDBERG: If I may publish, Your Honor. 

2 BY MR. GOLDBERG: 

3 Q. If you could please refresh the jury's memory as to what 2B 

4 is a packet of. 

5 A. 2B is the title file for Unit C46U -- oh, excuse me. 

6 Q. That's okay, take your time. 

7 A. This is the lender file for the Unit BlO. 

8 Q. That's the difference between the title and the actual 

9 loan? 

10 A. Right. 

11 Q. Let's look at what has been stamped 258. Is that one of 

12 those Uniform Residential Loan Applications we've heard about? 

13 A. Yes, sir. 

14 Q. And who is signing for it? 

15 A. Todd Britton-Harr for Karyn Britton. 

16 Q. I am now going to show you what has been marked as 

17 Government's Exhibit 3A and 3B for identification purposes and 

18 ask you if you recognize, first 3A, and if so, what is 3A? 

19 A. Yes. 3A is the title file for Unit C46U. 

20 Q. And what is 3B? 

21 A. 3B is the lender file for Unit C46U. 

22 Q. And these are certified documents? 

23 A. Yes, sir. 

24 MR. GOLDBERG: Your Honor, the Government would move 

25 to admit 3A and 38 into evidence. 
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